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Publishers’ Note

IT is more than three years now that the Kashmir question
was taken to the United Nations. During this long period,
heated debates took place in the UNO, charges and counter-
charges were made by both sides, a UN Commission visited
Kashmir, a UN Representative arrived on the scene, osten-
sibly to help in bringing about agreement between India
and Pakistan—but the only result of these much-publicised
efforts has been to make the Kashmir problem far more dif-
ficult of solution than before the United Nations took it in
hand; and today it has reached a point where a continuation
of the armed deadlock leads directly to the ever-growing
threat of war.

Why is it so? What are the reasons for“the growing
complexities of the Kashmir problem? Why have India
and Pakistan failed to reach an agreement between them-
selves? What is the reality behind the UN intervention in
Kashmir? |

This book seeks to answer these burning questions. It
presents to the democratic world opinion, in particular to
the people of Kashmir, India and Pakistan, a picture of the
sinister plot which the Anglo-American imperialists have
hatched against Kashmir’s freedom, and the unscrupu-
locusness with which they have wused the Xashmir
dispute to widen and harden the differences between India
and Pakistan.

The book seeks, further, to rouse the people of India and
Pakistan to the consciousness that unless they join hands
with Kashmir’s national movement in launching a joint
offensive against imperialist intrigues, that unless they
themselves arrive at a peaceful settlement which guarantees



the fullest freedom and integrity of Kashmir’s democratic
movement, their own freedom from imperialist domination
cannot be won.

The author is a young active worker of Kashmir’s
national movement, and has been c¢losely connected with
the freedom-battle ever since the “Quit Kashmir” struggle
of 1946. It is because of his intimate knowledge of Kashmir
and its people, and the devotion with which he has served
their cause, that he writes with such sincerity and passion.

A peaceful and democratic solution of the Kashmir
question vitally concerns not only the people of Kashmir,
India and Pakistan, but is of great importance for the cause
of world peace. And if this book helps the democratic
world opinion, in particular the people of Kashmir, India
and Pakistan, in arriving at a peaceful and democratic
settlement, its publication will be amply justified.



|
The Background

T HE Kashmir story begins with the publication, on May

12, 1946, of the Cabinet Mission Memorandum on the
Indian States. Through the provisions of this Memoran-
dum, through the theories advanced that with the so-calle
“¢ransfer of power” the paramountcy of the British Crow
had lapsed, and the 700 and odd Indian States had becom
sovereign and independent, free to enter or refuse to enter
into relationship with the Indian Union, the British im-
perialists sought to maintain the States and their pro-
British autocratic regimes as convenient bases from which
they could continue to interfere in the internal affairs of
the Indian people, one of the devices through which they
could continue their whip-hand over India.

With the publication, on June 3, 1946, of the Mount-
batten Plan for the partition of India, this theory of the
lapse of paramountcy and the consequent assertion of the
“independence” and “sovereignty” of the princely rulers
assumed a more sinister meaning. The British Government
insisted that the Indian States were free to enter into rela-
tions of any sort with either of the two Dominions, to join
either of the Dominions in federal relation, irrespective of
the territory in which they were situated, or to maintain
treaty relations if the terms of federation were not tempting
enough.

“We hope, as I have said,” explained Attorney-
General, Sir Hartley Shawcross, ‘“that the States will
associate themselves with one or the other of the new
Dominions in a federal or treaty relation on fair terms,
fairl3; and amicably negotiated.” (Hansard, July 14,
1946.

“Until the constitutions of the Dominions have been
framed in such a way as to include the States as willing
partners, there must necessarily be a less organic
form of relationship between them.” (Ibid., July 10,
1946.)

“I do not doubt that a State, in negotiating terms
on which it could accede to the Dominion, may make
it a condition that the decision should be conditional
on the Dominion concerned remaining within the
Commonwealth.” (Ibid., Julv 14, 1946.)
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The meaning of these statements by the Attorney-
General was quite clear. On the one hand, the Congress
leaders were being told by the British Government that
the States would join their Dominion, the internal unity
of their territories would be guaranteed only if they passed
a constitution, worked within the framework of policies

acceptable to the British and remained loyally within the
Commonwealth.

On the other hand, provision was being made to keep
the more important of the States directly under British
control, as “independent” territories, to use them when-
ever necessary, either to incite the two Dominions against
one another, or as bases of intervention against both.

Promptly the princely States fell, as if to order, into
two more-or-less distinct categories. The majority were
encouraged by the Political Department to enter into
negotiations with the Congress leaders, to drive hard bar-
gains, to press the Congress leadership to recognise the
sovereignty of the princes, and to guarantee non-inter-
ference in their internal autocratic regimes. But the bigger
ones, mainly Hyderabad and Kashmir, declared for inde-
pendence.

Hyderabad, with its vast territories stretching right
into the middle of the Indian Union, with its immense
resources already in the grip of a pro-British aristocracy,
and with a British-officered army, air bases and munition
factories, was being nursed by the British Government
as a secret strategic base against the Indian people. And
the Nizam dutifully requested the Viceroy to recognise
Hyderabad, with its “more than a century of faithful
alliance”, as a separate Dominion in the British Empire,
having special treaty relations with Britain.

Kashmir, touching both India and Pakistan, and with
its territories bordering on the Soviet Union, China and
Tibet, was, if anything, of even greater strategic value to
the British imperialists. Hence the deeply laid intrigues
to retain Kashmir under their domination by hook or by
crook. Hence also the desperate efforts to smash up the
powerful national movement led by the National Con
ference, and the equally desperate attempts to bolster up
the notorlously pro-British Premier, R.C. Kak.

But the savage repression let loose on the “Quit Kash-
mir”’ Movement in 1946 failed to destroy or disrupt the
people’s movement. Instead, it only succeeded in isolating
the Maharaja’s administration, in deepening the people’s
hatred and in solidifying their ranks. Having failed miser-
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ably in their frontal attack on the people of the Valley,
traditionally the base of Kashmir’s national movement,
the next obvious tactics for the British were to attack its
weak and exposed flanks, and to disrupt the national
movement in the Valley from within.

This they attempted in two simultaneous and closely
connected moves. On the one hand, they selected Poonch
as the weak link of the national movement, the area from
which they could incite and spread the flames of communal
hatred. Poonch had for many years past been united in a
joint nationality front against the Kashmir Durbar. Though
this opposition included both Hindus and Muslims, it was
yet under the weak and feeble leadership of the Rani of
Poonch and a few chieftains of local Muslim tribes. They
had been careful not to bring the people into the orbit of
their oppositional front. And Kashmir’s National Con-
ference leadership had failed to give the Poonch struggle
a broad and popular mass character.

The British Commandant of the State Army, Brig.
Scott, and the British Inspector-General of Police, Powell,
undertook a widespread ‘“reconnaissance” of Poonch, and
the British stooge Premier, R, C. Kak, sent in armed gangs
of Hindus and Sikhs to set upon its Muslim inhabitants,
and plunder and massacre wherever they went.

The trick worked. Communal hatred spread with the
rapidity of a forest fire. The incipient Poonchi struggle
was successfully derailed and diverted. Against the back-
ground of mounting communal tension in the Punjab dis-
tricts across the border, the ground was created for armed
bands from the Muslim districts of Jhelum and Rawalpindi
to rush to their brethren’s rescue. On September 4, 1947,
armed bands from Tehsils of Kahuta and Murree in the
Western Punjab raided the State territories in Poonch.

On the other hand, with the announcement of the free-
"dom given to the princely States to join whichever Domi-
nion they pleased, an attempt was made to derail and
disrupt the democratic movement in the Valley by posing
before the people the unreal and artificially-inflated slogan
of accession to either Dominion. As early as Oct, 1947, the
Bombay monthly Communist had warned:

“It is imperialism’s game to disrupt the great demo-
cratic movement led by the National Conference, by
inciting communal passions over the issue of Pakistan
versus Indian Union, and then to consolidate its grip
over Kashmir to use it as its imperialist strategic base.”

~
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The strategy by which alone Kashmir’s leaders could
foil this imperialist game was also outlined by the
Commaunist clearly and sharply:

“There is no doubt that the National Conference
would defeat these disruptive efforts by placing in the
forefront the issue of ending the present autocratic
regime and establishing a fully democratic government
in accordance with its programme.” (Ibid.)

It was recognised from the very beginning that if Kash-
mir’s leaders failed to defeat this imperialist game by lead-
ing their people boldly and unfalteringly onwards in the
struggle for full democracy in the new conditions thus
created, if the national movement lost sight of the real goal
before the people, the potentialities for evil of the unreal
slogan of Hindustan versus Pakistan were truly incalculable.
The leadership of the National Conference was known tn
be pro-Congress and anti-League. The people, though in
the Valley they were united solidly behind the National
Conference, were overwhelmingly Muslims by faith. With
the terrifying holocaust of communal massacres sweeping
across the Punjab, and with communal passions being work-
ed up deliberately to a frenzy in Poonch, the people could
fall an easy victim to the accession slogans, And wedged as
Kashmir was between India and Pakistan, a tug-of-war bet-
ween the two to gain control over it would be the easiest
device to incite hostility between the two Dominions, and
thus keep both under imperialist domination.

The leadership of the Muslim League began with an
attempt to win over the reactionary Maharaja and his pro-
British advisers to their side. The Congress is an enemy
of the princes, they said. The League stands for non-
interference in the internal autocratic regimes in the States,
and for the recognition of the sovereign rights of the prince.

“The only sensible course for Kashmir is to join-
the Pakistan Dominion in which it can retain far greater
freedom than it can as an integral part of the other
Dominion.” (Dawn, July 30, 1947.)

At the same time it was rumoured that Governor-
General Mountbatten was attempting to persuade both
India and Pakistan to accept a barter in which Hyderabad
would be allowed to join India provided Kashmir was given
to Pakistan. ‘

But in all their plans to decide Kashmir’s future without
reference to the people’s will, the British were reckoning
without their host. Immediately on his release from prison,
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Sheikh Abdullah came forward to rally his people aga.ug
and put forward the democratic slogan which alone coul
cut right through the imperialist plan: Sovereignty of they.
people first; accession only afterwards. At the same time,
Jhe undertook negotiations with both the Dominions for
commercial relations and mutual trade,

This was a forthright challenge to the imperialist plan,
and demanded an immediate answer. On Oct. 20, 1947, the
answer came. Before Kashmir’s leaders had time to check
and curb the dangerous disruption in Poonch; before they
could succeed in transforming the people of Poonch from
a reserve of imperialism into a reserve of Kashmir’s demo-
cratic movement; before they could gather their forces in
the Valley to finally throw back the imperialist offensive;
before they could cut through the accession slogans finally,
and transform the Kashmir issue itself from a ready means
of inciting bitterness between India and Pakistan to a bridge-
head spanning the gulf between the two—the British laun-
ched another and a more deadly frontal attack against the
Kashmir people. At the instance of Governor Cunningham
and with the aid of notorious British agents like Kuli Khan, §
an armed attack by pro-British tribes from the North-West}
Frontier Province was begun.

According to an article in the weekly People—

“It goes without saying that the British Government
was aware of the large-scale preparations going on
in Pakistan for an invasion of Kashmir. According to
a Press Note issued by the Government of India, Sir
George Cunningham had written about it to Sir
R. Lockhart.... About two weeks before the raid most
English men were evacuated from Kashmir byv the
British High Commissioner and many British Press men
accompanied the Pakistan invaders to Kashmir.” (FekL.
26, 1950.)

The aim of the armed attack was to incite the people of
the Valley to communal bitterness and thereby disrupt the
National Conference base, to throw the existing admini-
stration into panic and confusion, and to seize Srinagar
forcibly before the National Conference could assume
power. Yile s
The Mahgi*éja’s bankrupt administration, completely
isolated as it was, collapsed in face of the danger, But the
common people of Srinagar, led by local National Confer-
ence Committees, quickly threw up a network of people’s
committees to take over the task of administration, orga-
nised people’s guards to protect the transport and commu-
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nication system, ferreted out those underground agents
of ex-Premier Kak and the raiders who were known to be
planning sabotage to help the raiders, and, under the leader-
ship of the progressive elements of National Conference
youth, rapidly organised a national militia to challenge
and halt the advancing enemy.

While the common people were thus gathering their
forces for armed resistance, and by taking over the admini-
stration through people’s committees were advancing their
struggle in the new conditions, the National Conference
leadership appealed to the Indian Government for armed
help against the invaders. As a condition of this help
Kashmir provisionally acceeded to the Indian Union. The
accession was, however, subject to ratification by a demo-
cratic plebiscite.

The British imperialists were thus thwarted by the
people’s initiative and resourcefulness in their immediate
plans, and began to look around for alternative tactics
through which they could gain, if possible by indirect and
“peaceful” means, the ends which they had failed to gain
by a frontal attack and by force.

The alternative tactics were soon discovered. As the
Indian army pushed back the raiders beyond the Uri line
the British Press set up a hue and cry that the army opera-
tions in Kashmir were resulting in mounting tension bet-
ween India and Pakistan, and were a grave threat to inter-
national peace. The New Delhi correspondent of the London
Times reported that Indian Government sources had said
that “at least two Divisions” of Indian troops would be
needed to clear the rebels from Uri-Poonch-Jammu areas.

“This is the limit of India’s combat potential, and
the Cabinet hesitates to send them in, because it would
leave India open to invasion from Pakistan, a possibility
which is taken seriously.” (Dec. 27, 1947.)

At the same time the New Delhi correspondent of the
Daily Herald reported that Governor-General Mountbatten
had told Nehru bluntly that “if the Indian Cabinet persi-
sted in its present policy in Kashmir a clash with Pakistan
was inevitable, and in that case he would not wish to conti-
nue in office” (Dec. 21, 1947). The correspondent revealed
further that Mountbatten had insisted on either outright
partition of Kashmir or on the immediate reference of the
issue to the Security Council....On Jan. 1, 1948, the Indian
Government complied with Mountbatten’s demand, and
obligingly handed over the Kashmir question to the Anglo-
American-dominated Security Council.
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. The Security Council Takes A Hand

HE terms of India’s complaint to the Security Council

were, indeed, simple enough—that the invaders were
allowed transit across Pakistan and the use of Pakistan’s
territory as base of operations; that they included Paki-
stan nationals and drew their military equipment, transpor-
tation and supplies from Pakistan, and that Pakistan army
officers were training and guiding them in actual fighting.

This, the Indian Government complained, was an ‘‘act
of aggression”, and the Security Council should call upon
Pakistan to desist from all such acts. But towards this
simple request to face a clear and patent fact known to the
world, and splashed in every paper’s headlines day after
day for three continuous months, what attitude did the
Security Council adopt?

For the imperialist-dominated Security Council the
nature of India’s complaint or the facts of her case were of
little importance. For the imperialist Powers what was
important was that with India’s handing over the Kashmir
dispute for their decisions they could proceed at their con-
venience to tighten their grip over Kashmir. They were
now not only in a position to give their own verdict and
to take over Kashmir “peacefully” where a forcible seizure
had failed, but also in a position to widen the area of dispute
between India and Pakistan in whatever direction they
pleased, and, by playing one against the other, by prolonging
the dispute indefinitely, use Kashmir itself as a means to
dominate over both.

Even before the Anglo-American diplomats in Lake
Success had spoken their minds in that first Security Council
debate, which was to give Indian illusions many a rude jolt
and drive many an iron deep into Kashmir’s soul, the impe-
rialist-owned newspapers had begun to indicate the blind
alley into which the imperialists sought to drive the
Kashmir problem.

The leading British and American newspapers pounced
upon the Kashmir issue, hurriedly brushed aside the real
issue of India's complaint, and, trimming facts to suit their
own purpose, began to outline the strategy the imperialists
had resolved to undertake.

The New York Herald-Tribune, in line with accounts
of the Kashmir invasion published earlier in all the Press,
still wrote:
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“The trouble arose because Muslim tribesmen have
been making raids for the last three months into Kash-
mir.” (Jan. 4, 1948.)

But it was hastily pulled up and corrected by its
shrewder contemporary, the New York Times, which had
its own version of the dispute:

“The dispute over Kashmir arose from the fact that
although its inhabitants are predominantly Moham-
medans, the ruler of Kashmir, Maharaja Sir Hari Singh,
a Hindu, decided to place his State under India instead
of Pakistan, after the two countries became independent
last August.” (Jan. 6, 1948.)

This version was promptly taken up in chorus. The
British Express and Star echoed the American journal with
a touching faithfulness, while the Christian Science Monitor
suggested cautiously, with a truly Christian forebearance and
humility, that perhaps the sin lay with him who dared to
cast the first reproach.

“It has been the tribesmen’s wish to embroil them-
selves in fighting in Kashmir that held out promise of
...revenge for Muslims killed in the communal strife
of India. The sympathies of Pakistan’s Muslims had
gone with them, since the Dominion of India’s military
operations have caused deep resentment on this side of
the border.” (Jan. 15, 1946 — italics ours.)

And the Natal Witness from Malan’s South Africa fol-
lowed up with a blatancy and brusqueness reminiscent of
the masterly art of the “Big Lie”:

“India intervened forcibly in Kashmir.... with a
promptitude which suggested a premeditated decision to
hold the country ai any cost.” (Jan. 20, 1948.)

From that to an open indictment branding India as the
aggressor, and calling upon her to withdraw and let Kash-
mir remain with Pakistan, as well as to pay indemnities
for the damage inflicted, would be but a short and simple
step. A few resounding speeches, a few scratches of the
pen, a quick turn of the hand—and the trick is done! India
should, indeed, be grateful that the Almighty’s judgement
is not always terrible and swift but is tempered with mercy.
And what greater cause for gratitude could there be than
the mild punishment which the London Economist, the Lon-
don Times and the Manchester Guardian suggest: Not the
punishment which follows logically from the findings at
which the Anglo-American Press arrived — without, of
course, the meddlesome formalities of a tedious debate—
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but merely partition; merely holding the scales evenly bet-
ween India which “intervened forcibly”, and Pakistan which
was “provoked” to “deep resentment’.

But the farce could not be worked out so simply. It
was easier to dress up the facts and mock at reality in the
remote editorial chambers of the imperialist Press than in
the lobbies of the Security Council, where, however much
the . editorials reflected their own secret intentions, hard
facts had to be faced. For over three months the world had
heard and read of the full-scale tribal invasion of Kashmir
on Oct. 20, an invasion which was itself only the climax
to various raids and incursions into Mirpur and Poonch. The
fact that these raiders came with the blessings of the Fron-
tier Governor Cunningham, and Premier Abdul Qayyum,
the fact that the National Conference organised widespread
people’s resistance, took over the Government, and provi-
sionally acceded to India only after this full-scale invasion;
the fact that Indian armies arrived only after this acces-
sion — these facts were too well known and too well
established to be turned upside down overnight.

Besides, of the imperialist Powers, Britain had only
recently entered into an alliance with the Indian big bour-
geoisie, had gone to the length of sharing power with it to
purchase its “goodwill”, its readiness to line up actively
behind Britain and America in putting down the seething
unrest in India and in policing of recalcitrant colonies of
South-East Asia. A bargain struck with so much effort and
at so great a cost could not be wasted by overhaste or lack
of skill.

Time was required, and patience. And sooner or later
the cunning imperialists could surely lay their hands on
someone willing to pull their chestnuts out of the fire, some-
one willing to suggest the plans they had in mind—the plans
their papers had so tactlessly revealed, but which they them-
selves would unfold only gradually, carefully and with con-
summate skill.

Thus, the Canadian Montreal Daily Star, discussing the
proposal to partition Kashmir which was being stressed re-
peatedly in the British Press, speculated on the attitude
which the British delegation was likely to take:

“There are many reasons of a rather delicate nature
why Britons, although they may have firm ideas about
this case, would like to see other people propose them
.... The British will not sponsor such a plan (of parti-
tion — Author). Neither would they oppose it.” (Jan.
14, 1948.)
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And the Manchester Guardian, wiser than the rest of
the British papers, had reminded: “Perhaps in the end it
will be time which will bring about a settlement.”

But perhaps the most serious factor cautioning the im-
perialists to go slow and proceed with a more sober appraisal
of the actual situation was the attitude that the Soviet Press
had taken up. Alone in the welter of clever half-truths and
blatant lies, the Soviet papers, Izvestia and Red Star, drew
pointed attention to the basic realities of the case. The tribal
invasion of Kashmir, they pointed out, had been engineered
with the knowledge and connivance of British imperialist
agents, and that “Sheikh Abdullah is the leader of the demo-
cratic people of Kashmir.”

Against this background of carefully worked out stra-
tegy the debate on India’s complaint began. On Jan. 15,
India’s representative, N. Gopalaswami Ayyangar, reite-
rated the actual terms of the complaint made. He stated
that India’s request was restricted solely to calling upon
Pakistan to desist from participation in or aiding of the
aggression, and pointedly stressed that the complaint was
not regarding Kashmir’s territory, its political affiliations
or its internal regime.

Pakistan’s representative, Mohammed Zafarullah Khan,
promptly denied all complicity in the raids and countered
India with a list of charges on Junagadh, on allegations of
genocide of Muslims in India, and on India’s failure to fulfil
various inter-Dominion agreements.

The British delegate, Noel Baker, and the American
delegate, Warren Austin, pressed India to have “friendly”
behind-the-scene talks with Pakistan. And Ayyangar, who
had gone to challenge Pakistan for its responsibility in the
invasion, and who was now met with Pakistan’s blatant
and bare-faced denials, and with a long list of counter-
charges, accepted the Anglo-American suggestion “with
enthusiasm”:

“It is appropriate that the Security Council should

. give my delegation and the Pakistan delegation
the opportunity of conferring together to arrive at a
solution acceptable to both. I accept the offer for talks
willingly and with enthusiasm.”

But what was the outcome of these enthusiastic talks?
On Jan. 17, Zafarullah announced to the Security Council
three proposals which, he claimed, Pakistan had made in
a conference with Mountbatten. They were: First, the
immediate ending of all fighting; secondly, the simultaneous
withdrawal of Indian forces and those of “outside invaders”,
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and thirdly, arranging for a free plebiscite under joint Indo-
Pakistan control.

The Anglo-American delegates and their satellites
eagerly seized upon these proposals as the means by which
they could successfully intervene in the Kashmir dispute,
and brushing aside the realities of India’s complaint, came
out at once with a proposal for a “neutral” regime under
direct and open UN tutelage and control.

“Such a regime,” declared the US delegate, Warren
Austin, “would have to be as nearly impartial as possi-
ble, and the two countries might want it (') to function
under the aegis of the Security Council.” (New York
Herald-Tribune, Jan. 24, 1948.)

In fact, as the Pioneer of Allahabad reported—

“The general feeling among Security Council mem-
bers appears to favour the withdrawal of all non-Kash-
miri forces, and the establishment of a neutral admi-
nistration.” (Jan. 28, 1948.)

Eager as reactionary circles in India were, at this time,
to line up solidly behind the Anglo-Americans, Birla’s Hin-
dustan Times saw in all these happenings a blissful dream
of a happy “compromise”.

“It is believed that a compromise might be found,
by placing these troops (Indian and Pakistan) tempo-
rarily (!) under Security Council jurisdiction, as a
nucleus- for an international force.... A compromise
appears to be possible by the creation of a neutral
interim administration which might be composed of
elements drawn from all contending parties in addition
to some from the United Nations. As the US delegate
suggested, the question of a permanent Government for
Kashmir could be raised after the holding of a plebis-
cite.” (Jan. 26, 1948.)

But these dreams were destined to founder on hard
reality. While Ayyangar was working himself up to fervid
enthusiasm, the Security Council Chairman, Belgium dele-
gate Langanhove, moved yet another step in the attempt to
intervene in the Indian and Pakistan internal situation.
The agenda before the Security Council, which, India had
repeatedly stressed, was limited to calling upon Pakistan to
refrain from aiding the invaders, was changed from the
“Jammu and Kashmir case” to the “India-Pakistan dispute”.
India’s vigorous protests were brushed aside and the debate
on genocide begun.
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The Soviet delegate, Gromyko, alone amongst the Secu-
rity Council members, rose to protest against this change,
as being illegal, and as not having been permitted by the
Security Council. He alone pointed out that it was a deliber-
ate move by the imperialists to widen the area of dispute,
to enable them to intervene more directly in the internal
affairs of both India and Pakistan.

A few days later the world learnt that the “friendly’
talks had broken down. Promptly Langanhove introduced
a resolution, calling for a “neutral administration and a
plebiscite under Security Council control.” And equally
promptly his first attack was followed by a rapid succession
of blows. The big guns of the Security Council boomed out
fiercely, subjecting the Indian delegation to concentrated
and withering fire.

“The cause of all the troubles in Kashmir,” declared
the Argentine representative, Dr. Jose Arce, ‘“is that the
struggle of the people has been considered a rebellion,
and they have been regarded as cattle and not as men.”
(Times of India, Feb. 4, 1948.)

“It is my conviction,” threatened Noel Baker, “that
raids and incidents will go on until the question of
Kashmir is settled. As long as fear dominates the
minds of the people in the Punjab and in Kashmir,
incidents will continue.” (Ibid., Feb. 6, 1948.)

“How are you going to ask the tribesmen to retire?”
asked Warren Austin. “Only when they are satisfied
that there will be a fair plebiscite assured through an
interim Government can you have a peaceful settle-
ment.” (Ibid., Feb. 4, 1948.)

India listened, staggered and stunned. In vain did
Ayyangar plead that the future of the State was not the
issue of dispute at all.

“This is a field in which the Security Council has
no jurisdiction. The matter is entirely for the jurisdic-
tion of the State of Jammu and Kashmir, and its
people.” (Ayyangar’s speech, Pioneer, Feb. 5, 1948.)

In vain did Sheikh Abdullah intervene to remind the
Security Council:

“What is the point of the dispute? It is not the
sovereignty of the prince. It is not the allegation of
maladministration. The dispute is the invasion by
tritesmen helped by the Pakistan Government.... The
United Nations has no right to displace a legal Govern-
ment. ... Did the Council expect to find in Kashmir any

?
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individual whom they could regard as neutral on the
question of accession, or was it the Council’s intention
that the people of Kashmir should have no hand in
running their own country?” (New York Times, Feb.
5, 1948.)

But the Anglo-/AAmerican majority which dominated the
Security Council was not prepared to listen. They had
shown patience enough. Legal Government or not, Sheikh
Abdullah’s regime had thwarted their plans of domination
and upset their calculations. Now it must go. A “neutral”
regime of their own supporters must be set up. The widest
possible powers must be ensured to their nominee going as
Plebiscite Administrator. He was to be virtually a super
Commander-in-Chief of the Armies, a super Inspector-Ge-
neral of Police, a Magistrate-in-Chief and, of course, a
super Prime Minister and Cabinet unto himself. Only if
all this were conceded, only if Kashmir surrendered without
a murmur and handed itself over to them, only then would
the tribesmen be withdrawn and the fighting be called off.
Refuse—and the imperialists knew how to bring India and
her like to her senses!

Gone was the suave pleading of the polished British
diplomat; to India’s shocked amazement America’s mailed
fist was shown. Immediately Delhi was agog with the
rumour that the Anglo-Americans had threatened India
that in case of a refusal to accept their decision, India’s sup-
ply of petrol and other vital commodities would be cut off.
Outside the Soviet Union, it must be remembered, the
Anglo-Americans had a virtual monopoly of petrol.

It was openly mentioned in National Conference circles
that, panic-stricken, the Government of India had referred
the question of alternative sources of petrol to its leading
Science Advisers. It was reported that a certain associate
of some National Conference leaders had been to see the
Government of India’s leading Science Adviser in this con-
nection, and had politely suggested that the cutting off of
Anglo-American supply of petrol was no problem at all.
The Soviet Union possessed enormous supplies, and the
Government of India had only to approach her to get what
they wanted for the asking. Our leading scientific luminary
is reported to have thrown up his hands in horror: “Petrol
from the Soviet Union? Don’t you realise, my dear friend,
that the Government of India is not prepared to have any-
thing to do with that country!”

It is significant that although political circles continued
to deny this reported Anglo-American threat, it had its first



14 KASHMIR

open confirmation exactly two years later, from no less a
person than Bakshi Ghulam Mohammed, Deputy Prime
Minister of Kashmir. Speaking at Jammu on March 7, 1950,
Bakshi Sahib revealed:

“The Anglo-American bloc wanted to bind its deci-
sions on India by threats and coercion. Recently they
had threatened to stop allotment of petrol etc. to India,
if she did not accept the Macnoughton formula.”
(Indian News Chronicle, March 8, 1950.)

To those who are aware today of the deliberate sabotage
by K. M. Munshi and other reactionary elements, of Soviet
and Chinese offers of foodgrains, the decision of the Indian
Government to have no truck with the Soviet Union, even
if Soviet help was the only way in which India could save
Kashmir’s freedom and save her own national honour, would
come as no surprise. The helplessness with which India
knuckled under to the insolent Anglo-American threats was
only the inevitable and logical outcome of her basic econo-
mic and political policies. Those were the days when Ame-
rican Ambassador, Grady, was touring up and down the
country, delivering speeches, issuing a string of Press state-
ments attacking India’s protection to her infant national
industries, advocating the lowering of tariff walls to dump
Indian markets with cheap American goods, pressing for
the abandonment of nationalisation, and insolently demand-
ing a “clear picture of the Government of India’s policy
towa;‘ds labour and private capital.” (Statesman, Nov. I,
1947. ,
Those were the days when, encouraged by Grady’s open
and undisguised interference in India’s internal policies,
powerful industrialists like Tata and Birla, in cooperation
with reactionary circles inside the Congress, had launched a
vigorous campaign criticising the programme of nationalisa-
tion to which the Congress was pledged, and demanding
ruthless suppression of the working-class movement, along
with other “guarantees” to Indian capitalists.

Birla, addressing the shareholders of his United Com-
mercial Bank, said:

“The State in India does manage large business,
railway, telephone and telegraphs, but the experience
has been that under the pressure of public opinion the
State can neither economise nor increase so easily the
cost of the consumer, with the result that, as everyone
can see, there is inefliciency.”

And J. R. D. Tata, addressing the annual meeting of the
Tata Iron & Steel Company, had spoken up against Govern-
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ment awards in labour disputes, and had demanded firm
action against the working class:

“What seems to be required is sympathetic yet firm

action by Government in dealing with unlawful strikes
in particular.”

Under pressure of the American bosses and their Indian
servitors, the Government promptly called an Industrial
Truce Conference to prohibt working-class strikes; orga-
nised the INTUC to disrupt the working-class movement;
struck ferociously at the leadership of the working class
and peasantry, banning the Communist Party in Bengal
and launching a country-wide offensive to arrest thousands
of known trade-union and peasant leaders; signed the
Havana Charter of the International Trade Organisation,
lowering India’s trade barriers and pledging to give equal
protection to foreign and indigenous capital, and then pub-
licly announced, much to the delight of American and Indian
big business, that it had abandoned its programme of
nationalisation “for a period of ten years.”

Those were also the days when reactionary circles in
India sought to follow up these initial victories by tying
India openly and more closely to the Anglo-American apron-
strings, demanding that the Nehru Government completely
throw overboard its protestations of “neutrality” in foreign
affairs. Patel’s Home Department, and the Industry De-
partments under his nominees, having proved their bona
fides, Nehru’'s Foreign Department must now completely
fall in line. Referring to the “favourable” internal situation
created in India by the wholesale suppression of the demeo-

cratic and working-class movement, Birla’s Eastern Econo-
mist declared:

“We gained nothing in the USSR from a protesta-
tion of innocence but we did fail to cash in on a domestic
situation which placed us well with the United States.
This was the barren fruit of a policy of attempted
neutrality.”

In the eyes of the Birlas and Tatas it was only this “at-
tempted neutrality”, this hesitation to line up completely
behind the imperialist Powers, that was bringing the wrath
of the Anglo-American gods on India’s head. If India
wanted to win their favour it must propitiate the gods
further, completely and without any reservation. India must
bow its head still lower, as low at least as Pakistan.

“If India were outside the Commonwealth vyhen
these differences (with Pakistan) arose and Pakistan
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within it, Commonwealth forces as well as sympathy
may well be used against us, whatever the merit of the
dispute.” (Eastern Economist, July 23, 1948.)

And so, just at the time when Kashmir’s fate had been
handed over to the decision of the Anglo-American masters,
the race to outbid Pakistan in winning their favours, in
proving themselves equally loyal and dependable servitors
of the imperialist will, was begun. The race continued un-
checked with ever- gathermg momentum, for full three
years, until, by the beginning of 1951, it was seen to have
resulted in complete and total disaster for Kashmir's

national movement.

111
Kashmir Prepares for Struggle

MEAN WHILE, having discovered to their intense satis-
faction that every act of pressure and intimidation only

brought a more and more servile and abject response from
the Indian Government, the Anglo-Americans only grew
more brazen-faced and bolder. They insolently brushed
aside Sheikh Abdullah’s objections and Ayyangar’s pleas,
intent on seizing upon the Kashmir dispute to push through
their plans of intervention.

“All the conciliation proposals thus far,” reported
the Canadian Montreal Daily Star, “have concentrated
on the establishment of a neutral regime to govern
Kashmir.” (Feb. 7, 1948.)

“Mr. Austin’s statement”, noted the New York
Times, “was considered a setback for the Indian dele-
gation which had steadfastly claimed that the Govern-
ment of Kashmir was an internal matter, and not an
affair for the United Nations.” (Feb. 4, 1948.)

The Indian delegate struggled pitifully to extricate the
Kashmir problem from the mess into which his servile
dependence on the Anglo-Americans had got it. We had
come with complete faith, Ayyangar wailed. ‘“But it seems
that the Security Council generally did not sympathise with
the Indian case.” He would have to talk matters over with
his Government, and he requested for a brief adjournment,
just a few days. Anticipating no serious objection to this
request, he said, he had provisionally booked his passage.
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This was the signal for a general uproar in which accu-
sations were freely hurled, and the Anglo-American sate-
llites thundered and fumed.

“India’s recall of its delegates for talks”, the New
York Herald-Tribune insinuated darkly, “came after
the Council had clearly veered towards proposals which
would set up a neutral interim administration for Kash-
mir, and require withdrawal of Indian forces before a
plebiscite.”

“For Ayyangar to book his passage without first
learning the wishes of the Security Council,” thundered
Columbian delegate, Dr, Alfonso Lopez, “is to flout the
Council. For that body’s own dignity it should meet
again tomorrow, and keep on meeting until it had
igzgl;ed some decision.” (Montreal Daily Star, Feb. 11,

Pakistan’s Zafarullah sat and stroked his beard in un-
disguised amusement, as Ayyangar, stung to the quick, rose
to protest:

“My country has not been treated with the dignity
to which it is entitled. A simple request for time to
consult with the home Government was being examined
with great suspicion. I have been too much twitted
today.” (New York Times, Feb. 12, 1948.)

The Ukrainian delegate, Tarasenko, alone rose to
intervene.

“There was no doubt about the need for adjourn-
ment”, he said. “And the Council should not even try
to limit the period of adjournment, as it could not fix
the time required to consult with the home Govern-
ment. If the Anglo-American majority was not prepared
to agree to this plain and simple request let them refuse
it openly. Let votes be taken and recorded on this
request.” (People’s Age, Feb. 29, 1948.)

Afraid to face the Soviet challenge to come out in the
open with their opposition, the Anglo-Americans and their
stooge majority quietened down. Permission to return
home was given on the distinct understanding that the
status quo would be maintained until India’s return. (Vide
US delegate’s speech, People’s Age, Feb. 29, 1948.)

But, in fact, the status quo was not maintained. While
the Indian delegate was away, the Security Council pro-
ceeded to take up “aspects of the India-Pakistan Question
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other than those relating to Jammu and Kashmir”, including,
as the foreign Press reported, ‘“allegations of Indian aggres-
sion against Pakistan.”

By this time the astute British diplomats had begun to
notice that all was not well, and that perhaps the American
mailed fist had been thrust under India’s nose too soon.

The London Times thus observed:

“In India opinion continues to be much exercised
over what is considered to be the lack of sympathy with
which the Security Council received its complaint
against Pakistan on the score of the war in Kashmir. ...
Addressing a public meeting at Jammu in Kashmir, Mr.
Nehru expressed disappointment and surprise at the
way the Security Council had handled India’s reference
to it of the Kashmir issue. Instead of discussing and
deciding it in a straightforward manner the nations of
the world sitting in the Security Council got lost in
power politics.” (Feb. 21, 1948.)

Perhaps some pretence of a retreat, some relaxation of
the screws, some further exercise of caution and patience
may yet bring the Indians to walk smiling and bowing into
the spider’s web, where force and bluster may not drag
them. A highly sensitive people these Orientals, as the
Manchester Guardian had earlier noted, jealous of their
dignity and self-respect. Not the sort who would stand
being pushed about. But humour their self-respect and
feeling of national pride, and you could do with them what-
ever you will.

And so, as soon as Ayyangar returned from India,
opportunity was taken of the Chinese delegate Dr. Tsiang’s
chairmanship to bring the Indians again to the “family
table” and to initiate a new round of “friendly talks” and
“conciliation” proposals. Dr. Tsiang’s proposals began with
a minor sop to India. The plebiscite remained, as before,
the first point to be discussed and arranged for, under the
supervision of the Security Council. The Abdullah regime
was sought to be removed or subordinated, as before, to a
Chief of Interim Administration, nominated by the Security
Council to run the Government until the plebiscite. But
provision was made for the maintenance of some Indian.
forces for the security of the State.

Hardly had the Indian newspapers signified their Gov-
ernment’s willingness to approve of the Chinese proposals
than Noel Baker, having got the Indian delegates to resume
negotiations again, proceeded promptly to close the trap.
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“Azad Kashmir” representatives, he insisted, must be
included on a “full and equal” basis in the Kashmir Cabinet
under a UN Head of Interim Regime, and a Committee of
Assessors representing both India and Pakistan must be
associated with the Plebiscite Administrator,

On April 21, 1948, a resolution was finally passed. A
bare perusal of its provisions shows that all the obnoxious
points of the previous proposals were there, though dressed
up respectably, their naked ugliness hidden from view. A
five-man Commission was to be appointed to supervise the
cease-fire, a temporary truce and the withdrawal of armed
forces. A Plebiscite Administrator was to take the place of
what was previously called the “Head of the Interim Admi-
nistration”, and was, as before, to have powers of direction
and supervision over the State’s armed forces and police;
power to nominate and appoint Special Magistrates; power
to communicate over the head of Sheikh Abdullah’s Govern-
ment with the Security Council and with the Governments
of India and Pakistan, and indeed all such powers as he
himself “considers necessary for the plebiscite.”

At the same time Sheikh Abdullah’s Government was
to be replaced by a so-called “neutral Cabinet” including
Azad Kashmir representatives, or “representatives of major
parties and political groups” as the resolution euphemisti-
cally called them, to share “equally and fully in the admi-
nistration at Cabinet level.”

The former three-man Committee of Assessors was to
be retained in the shape of a representative nominated each
by Pakistan and India, to be attached to the Commission.
Indeed, in this detailed plan for open and direct interven-
tion in the internal affairs of Kashmir, an intervention
specially barred by the Articles of the United Nations
Charter, only on one point was a concession made to India.
The Anglo-Americans did not demand a complete withdra-
wal of the Indian army, but the retention of “the minimum
strength required for the support of the civil power, and
in maintenance of law and order”, to be stationed subje:t
to the “advice” of the Security Council Commission.

The resolution was greeted in Kashmir by an angry
wave of resentment and indignation. The National Con-
ference met forthwith on April 22, 1948, -a day after its
passage, and scornfully rejected it.

“The General Council of the National Conference
is of the opinion that the resolution is vet another fea-
ture of power politics on which the Security Council
has embarked ever sinte-its inception. Right from the
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time the issue of Kashmir was referred to the Security
Council, some members had been at pains to make capi-
tal out of the issue for their own designs.... Some
members even suggested that the Security Council
should have a direct hand in the administration of
Kashmir.

“The General Council wishes to make it clear fcr
all times that it will brook no interference from any
quarter in the newly won freedom attained by the peo-
ple after bitter struggle extending over 17 years..
The General Council rejects this resolution in toto and
calls upon the people to resist this decision... The Ge-
neral Council calls upon the popular Government to
arm the people and to take immediate steps to mobilise
the entire nation for this purpose.”

Moving the resolution with a fighting speech, Maulana

Syed Masoodi, General Secretary of the National Confer-
ence, declared:

\

“In regard to the Kashmir issue the imperialist
| Powers like America and Britain had made out-Pakistan

as the innocert party. This was being done to further

.| their own ends with a view to establish bases here for
it the coming war...” (Khidmat, April 28, 1948.)

: ‘Sheikh Abdullah was equally outspoken.

|/
{

“The strange attitude shown by the imperialisi
Powers eonvinced him (Sh. Abdullah) that-tothing
“could come out of the talks, and he had accordingly
asked Mr. Ayyangar to withdraw the case altogether

. Mr. Noel Baker flatly denied the complicity of
Pakistan in the raids, which, he said, were of local
origin. ... When asked how he had come to judge things
at such a great distance, he said he had received direct
information.... Mr. Warren Austin insisted on ‘a neu-
tral’ administration for Kashmir, which, he frankly
said, would include a few members of the Security
Council.... Most of the members saw Kashmir only as
ta neighbour of Russia and therefore an essential base
ll(l}btg(; encirclement of Russia for future aggression.”

i

Kashmir was a dangerous volcano seething with revolt.

Indeed, India itself was shocked and alarmed. Political
parties were up in arms. The common man, brought up for

30

years in a fighting tradition of anti-imperialism, was

angered and aroused. For 17 years he had watched Kashmir



KASHMIR PREPARES FOR STRUGGLE 21

battle stubbornly and tenaciously for freedom. He could
not allow it now to lower the flag before foreign Powers, to
go down without even the semblance of a fight,

The Government of India noted the people’s mood and
decided to stiffen its back. On April 25, Ayyangar reite-
rated India’s objections to the Security Council’s naked and
direct interference in the internal regime and political affi-
liations of Kashmir, and said:

“It will now be for my Government to decide in the
circumstances so created what its course of action wil!
be to end the fighting and take a plebiscite.” (States-
man, April 25, 1948.)

But was this India’s last word or was it only a plea for
time to consider and decide? Was it a total and final rejec-
tion, a determination to break off all discussions, or only
pressure to secure some amendments?

On May 7, Vellodi stated on behalf of the Indian dele-
gation:

“There can be no question of the Commission pro-
ceeding to implement the resolution on Kashmir until
the objections raised by the Government of India have
been satisfactorily met.”

But simultaneously India proceeded to nominate a coun-
try to serve on its behalf on the five-man Commission. The
language of the speeches was, indeed, sharp and stern—but
what did this gesture indicate? The Security Council mem-
bers were unable to decide, and thought it best to wait and
watch before making up their mind.

The London Times was quick to note the lack of deci-
siveness in the Indian stand and to indicate the most fruitful
tactical direction:

“At the same time both Governments indicated that
they would not oppose the arrival of the Kashmir Com-
mission on the spot and might cooperate with it....
This is a most encouraging feature of the deliberations
....If both Governments had decided on a completely
negative position they would not have appointed their
own selected representatives to serve on the Commis-
sion.... When a neutral body reaches Kashmir it will
by its very presence tend to create a stabilising media-
tory atmosphere.” (May 8, 1948.)

A few days later, on May 20, India moved again. Poli-
tely and cautiously, Pillai wrote on behalf of the Indian dele-
gation that India was unable to undertake the obligations
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placed on her by the present resolution “unless it is amended
in the directions indicated.”

At once Warren Austin was besides himself with rage.
Acceptance or no acceptance, co-operation or no co-opera-
tion, the Commission shall proceed on its appointed course.
It shall go to the spot and set up the plebiscite machinery.

“We notice,” he thundered, “that there does rot
seem to be any sense of obligation on parties who use
the expensive machinery of the United Nations to
respect the judgement at which the Commission arrives

. Now we are told that they will not implement
some of the most important articles of our recommen-
dations. That is an absurd position for the United
Nations to be in.... It is not only morally wrong. It 1s
not in conformity with the spirit of the Charter, 1f
parties come to us for the settlement of the dispute they
must abide by the Commission’s decisions.” (Civil &
Military Gazette, May 28, 1948.)

Badgered and bullied into silence, the Hindustan Times
wailed:

“The Indians after yesterday’s meeting were some-
what surprised at the new American ‘get-tough’ policy,
particularly in view of the fact that the Security Coun-
cil has in the past accepted non-compliance with its
resolutions with a certain meekness.” (May 25, 1948.)

But before its complaint could make itself heard, the
Security Council proceeded to further tighten the screws.
On June 3, having got the five-man Commission into exis-
tence with the willing compliance of both India and Paki-
stan, and having instructed it to proceed to India forthwith
without much ceremony or delay, it went on to widen the
Commission’s scope to include the entire range of India-
Pakistan Question, the question of Junagadh, the allegations
of genocide of Indian Muslims, and a multitude of inter-
governmental agreements between India and Pakistan.

Nehru protested vigorously, but in vain. The United
Nations Commission on India and Pakistan  (UNCIP), as
it was called, proceeded relentlessly on its appointed
course. And, after a spate of rumours that it would first
meet in London to draw on the expert advice of Mr. Noel
Baker, in the first week of July 1948 it set foot on Indian
soil.

The People’s Age again warned India and Kashmir that
unless they awoke immediately to the real nature of the
Commission they were well on the road to disaster:



THE ROAD TO COMPROMISE 23

“When the Kashmir issue was put before the UNO
the Soviet representative warned that a UNO Commis-
sion would do no good, and he cited the case of the
Commission on Indonesia which had become an agency
of imperialist intervention. But Ayyangar, intent on
flattering the imperialists, and having pathetic faith in
them.... stuck to his demand for UNO intervention

. There was not one member in the AICC to ask
Pt. Nehru how we could remain neutral when the
Anglo-American bloc through the Security Council had
launched open aggression in Kashmir. ... This so-called
policy of neutrality.... has brought not only humilia-
tion to India’s Government hut also created the danger
of Anglo-American aggression. What is at stake is the
Sl)ibfg;g )and freedom of the people of Kashmir. (May

\Y
The Road To Compromise

B Y the time the Commission was to land in Karachi,
Kashmir’s patriots were already discarding their illu-
sions one by one. The amazing proceedings of the
Security Council, the callousness with which their country’s
case had been bandied about, the cynicism with which the
imperialist Powers had got together to sidetrack their sim-
‘ple complaint and to cover up the real issue in a web of
intricate lies, the deliberateness with which entirely irrele-
vant issues were manufactured and seized upon in an undis-
guised attempt to find some pretext for intervening to over-
throw their internal regime, had already opened their eyes.
Through its own proceedings and with its own hands
the Security Council had torn from its face every shred of
neutrality and impartiality that they had once believed it to
possess.

Nor was the composition of the Commission likely to
win Kashmir’s confidence, weighed heavily, as it was, with
just those countries that had proved themselves most zeal-
ous in demanding the subversion of Kashmir’s National
Government to foreign domination: America itself, with its
loyal satellites, Belgium, Columbia and Argentina.

Nothing good, the National Conference realised. could
come out of “negotiating” with such a Commission. The
Commission must be told plainly and bluntly that Kashmir
had had enough of the Lake Success farce. And Kashmir
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itself must gather its forces to meet and fight the latest
threat. Towards that end the energies of every National
Conference worker must be bent.

The Indian Nation of Patna reported:

“The policy of the Kashmir Government has been
clearly stated by Sheikh Abdullah. Both the people of
Kashmir and the Government are opposed even to the
entry of the Commission into the State, and have justi-
fied this attitude on the ground that the Kashmir case
was deliberately made a pawn in the game of power
politics at Lake Success....... The fact that the Com-
mission is over-weighted in favour of Pakistan has led
to an uneasy tension all over Kashmir.” (Indian Nation,
July 3, 1948.)

The National Conference resolution of April 22, calling
upon the people to prepare for armed resistance to imperia-
list intervention, had electrified the atmosphere. Anger and
defiance were in the air. The younger elements of the Na-
tional Conference were eagerly on the move. They gathered
together in small meetings, taking stock of the situation,
reviewing their forces, working out the ways and means of
giving battle to imperialist intervention. An open boycott of
the Commission was on everyone’s lips. The ranks of the Na-
tional Conference turned their thoughts to those momentous
days in 1929 when the Simon Commission had been sent
out to India, when an angry storm of black flags had enve-
loped the earth, and, like a mighty thunderclap, “Go Back
Simon” had rent the skies — and dreamt fondly of living
again in the glory of those days.

The London Times was quick again to note this darken-
ing mood:

“Indian opinion was definitely hostile towards the
Commission and newspapers reflected this hostility. ...
while in Kashmir itself Sheikh Abdullah’s regime was
averse from allowing the Commission to set foot in the
State, and felt that public resentment might take the
form of black-flag demonstrations.” (July 11, 1948.)

Kashmir was, indeed, a seething cauldron of indignation
and revolt. The people waited with tense expectation for
the gathering storm to burst.

But those who between themselves were deciding
Kashmir’s fate, had other plans. The open public debates,
published daily in every newspaper and followed eagerly
by the entire people of Kashmir, had, they realised, led to
this dangerous hardening of the people’s mood. But quiet,
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behind-the-scene negotiations, from which the peaple were
carefully eliminated, would perhaps produce better results.

The open Security Council debates were now to be re-
placed by the secret “negotiations” of the Commission. The
Commission, in its turn, warned beforehand of the explo-
sive situation in Kashmir, decided to begin its task by sugar-
coating its tactics.

In reply to a letter from Nehru, asking the Commission
for clarification about its proposed programme and work,
R. J. Siri, Commission’s Chairman, was politely evasive and
profuse with honey-sweet assurances. We come only with
the sincerest intentions, he swore. We come only to be of
some humble service to you. If you will only discuss matters
with us, and give us your co-operation, everything will be
all right.

Nehru, whose Government was repentently retracing
the harsh words the Security Council’s “get-tough” tactics
had provoked, responded with a gesture which was sweeter

still. “My Government,” he telegraphed the Commission
on June 26, “note that the Commission is coming to the
Indian sub-continent with the most sincerest desire to
'be of real service to them as well as to the Pakistan
Government for the settlement of the situation in
Jammu and Kashmir.... The Government of India will
be glad to confer with the Commission when it arrives
in Delhi. We shall also give what assistance we can....
Arrangements will be made for a senior officer to main-
tain liaison between the Government of India and the
Commission during the latter’s stay in New Delhi.”

The next day Nehru flew off to Srinagar, accompanied
by Baldev Singh, Gopalaswami Ayvyangar. Maharaja of
Jammu and Kashmir. V. P. Menon, Secretary of the States
Ministry, H. M. Patel. Secretary of the Defence Ministry,
and entered into long and protracted confabulations with
Sheikh Abdullah and the Kashmir Cabinet.

q The results of these discussions were known in a few
ays.
“It is even suggested”, reported the Indian Nation,

“that Pandit Nehru had been to Kashmir to soften the

opposition of Sheikh Abdullah to the UN Commission.

Misgivings are still there. If the Commission places

facts before the Security Council in a way damaging to

the Government of India and to Sheikh Abdullah’s ad-
ministration, will not the position of India be further
weakened? India should move cautiouslv in this mat-

ter.” (July 11, 1948.)
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But in its misgivings the Indian Nation seemed to find
itself alone. The capitalist-owned Indian Press, and parti-
cularly the Hindustan Times, had already begun to talk of
“conditional co-operation” and of “willing co-operation” if
the Commission got Pakistan to “behave.”

The London Times had, of course, every reason to b=
pleased with the outcome:

“It is evident that in recent weeks there has been
some softening in India’s attitude towards the Com-
mission itself..... Realising that such treatment (boy-
cott or non-co-operation—Author) would hardly re-
dound to India’s credit or advantage..... the Indian
Cabinet discussed the matter at length and.... decided
to extend all facilities and courtesies to the Commission
while on Indian soil.” (July 11, 1948.)

And Kashmir’s patriots, who were straining impatiently
at the leash, preparing their forces for a final, last-ditch bat-
tle, learnt to their bitter disappointment that the battle was
not to be. The National Conference resolution of April 22,
1948, calling upon them for armed resistance, was not to be
acted upon. Considerations of “international politics” and
“Governmental prestige” demanded that they must co-op-
erate with the UNCIP, and watch quietly and patiently as a
decision on their fate was dragged out interminably, against
their will.

The movement of spontaneous anger, the movement to
rescue themselves from the Security Council before its grip
closed finally on their throats, was scattered even before it
was begun!

By the middle of July the Commission settled down
comfortably to its work, and, step by step, slowly, almost
imperceptibly, that process began in which the Commis-
sion unfolded the imperialist plan bit by bit; the political
stalemate was made to drag on endlessly; Kashmir’s inter-
nal situation deteriorated and became more and more com-
plicated, and India’s leaders were dragged deeper and deep-
er into the quagmire of compromise and surrender.

In Delhi and Karachi the Commission began by meeting
Nehru and Rajagopalachari, Liaqat Ali and Zafarullah, the
Indian C.-in-C., General Butcher, and the Pakistan C.-in-C,,
General Gracey, Bajpai and Vellodi and Pakistan Secretary-
General, Mohammed Ali.

In Srinagar they sent out an “advance party”, and a
few days later a sub-committee which was received at the
aerodrome by the Deputy Prime Minister, Bakshi Ghulam

Mohammed.
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In Delhi and Karachi the Commission probed its way
forward cautiously, beginning with a pious and platitudi-
nous appeal, requesting both Governments to “refrain from
all steps calculated to worsen the situation.” The Govern-
ment of India replied with an assurance that it would con-
tinue its best efforts to give effect to the Commission’s
appeal.

In Srinagar the Commission’s sub-committee proceeded
to meet Kashmir's Cabinet Ministers, and, without much
beating about the bush, promptly demanded an “elucida-
tion” from Mirza Afzal Beg, the Revenue Minister, of the
proposed land reforms.

Not content with thus poking their nose into the Kash-
mir Government’s own internal policies of land reform,
undeterred by the fact that this was a subject entirely
irrelevant to the Commission’s particular studies, a subject
in which the Commission was supposed to have neither
jurisdiction nor interest, the London Times announced that
the Commission would soon launch an extensive “economic
and political survey” of the Valley. (August 27, 1948.)

On September 6, the New York Herald-Tribune announ-
ced that the economic-political survey was begun under the
guidance of the Pakistan representative on the UNCIP,
Carlos Leguizamon of Argentina.

In Delhi and Karachi the Commission put out feelers
for a cease-fire and truce.

In Srinagar, while its “political survey” was still going
on, it promptly wired the UN Secretary-General for the
services of forty Military Observers. At the time the tele-
gram arrived in Lake Success the Soviet delegate, Jacob
Malik, happened to be the Security Council’s Chairman for
the month. He suggested that the Military Observers should
be selected from all the five nations represented on the
Commission. He cited the example of Palestine where the
USA, France and Belguim were serving on the Palestine
Truce Commission, and where Observers were drawn
equally from all these three countries.

The UN Secretarial staff resisted this simple suggestion.
insisting on selecting the Observers themselves, mainly
from the American army. Jacob Malik, as Chairman, con-
vened a meeting of the Security Council to discuss this
question. At once a minor storm was whipped up in the
American Press. The New York Herald-Tribune and the
New York Times criticised Malik’s suggestion, stating quite
frankly that in quoting the Palestine example Malik was
obviously anxious to ensure that Military Observers were
drawn also from the country which India had nominated to
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the Commission, i.e. from Czechoslovakia. In the Security
Council meeting, delegate after delegate rose to rebuke
Malik sharply for having dared to mention such a dangerous
proposal, and by an overwhelming majority the suggestion
was voted down.

The UN Secretariat proceeded with its own election,
and 26 Observers were sent down from the American army,
8 each from Canada and Belgium, and 2 from Norway.

Meanwhile, hardly had the negotiations for a cease-fire
begun than reports began to appear — significantly enough
first in the British Press — that Pakistan’s British C.-in-C.,
General Gracey, had admitted before the Commission the
presence and participation of the Pakistan regular army in
the fighting in Kashmir. The report was denied by a Paki-
stan Government communique. But the British Press per-
sisted in the story, while the London Observer went further
and openly indicated the advantages of such an admission.

“Though the Pakistan Government has repudiated
a reported admission to the UN Commission that Paki-
stan troops are fighting Indian troops in Kashmir, yet
there seems no doubt that they had been there since
May. The general belief is that Pakistan is out to esta-
blish its position before the UN Commission can recom-
mend partition of the State, which indeed is the only
solution.” (August 8, 1948 — italics ours.)

A valuable hint which Pakistan’s ruling classes were
not too dull-witted to catch!

It will be remembered that when earlier during the
Lake Success debates, Zafarullah had vigorously denied
Pakistan’s complicity in the tribal invasion, Sheikh Abdullah
had promptly retorted that if Pakistan was neither a parti-
cipant nor an abettor in the invasion it could claim no locus
standii in the Kashmir dispute. Hence the Anglo-Ameri-
cans’ deliberate attempt to afford Pakistan a position of
equality with India, and to drag it back, in face of its per-
sistent denials, as an equal participant in the dispute, was
indefensible in the extreme. Hence, also, all the carefully
manufactured arguments on which the Anglo-Americans
based their plans for a foreign-dominated “neutral” Gov-
ernment and a foreign-controlled plebiscite, all the feeble
pretexts through which they sought to cover up and justify
their open intervention in Kashmir’s internal affairs, fell
to the ground. Hence, obviously, the only responsibility the
Security Council could justifiably undertake was to call
upon Pakistan to refuse the use of its territory to the tribal
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raiders, and to leave the people of Kashmir to decide for
themselves their internal regime and their political affilia-
tions.

The logic of the contention was obvious — and extre-
mely dangerous for the Anglo-American plans. And so,
before the Indian Government could bring itself to utilise
it, and before Sheikh Abdullah could extricate Kashmir
from the intricate knots into which she was being tied by
the imperialists, this risky loophole too was covered up.
General Gracey, Pakistan’s British C.-in-C., insisted, as
Zafarullah revealed two years later, that the Pakistan army
must move directly into battle.

“If”, he warned the Pakistan Government, “Paki-
stan does not want to be faced with another big refugee
problem; if India was not to be allowed to sit at the
doorstep of Pakistan; if the civilian and army morale
was not to be undermined, it is imperative that the
Indian army is not allowed to move beyond the Uri
line.” (Quoted in Zafarullah’s speech to the Pakistan

Institute of International Affairs, Karachi, August 28,
1950.)

The backstage arrangements were now complete, and
had been worked out with an admirable consistency of pur-
pose, notwithstanding the numerous hands which had co-
operated to fill in the details. A British Cabinet Mission
carves up a whole sub-continent in one bold and masterly
stroke, leaving whole chunks of territory, bigger than most
European countries, floating out like atoms in a vacuum,
free to coalesce with one Dominion or the other. A British
Governor, Cunningham, organises a full-scale invasion
against one such territory, Kashmir, to destroy by force its
national movement, to ensure that it does not, by some un-
happy accident, coalesce with the wrong Dominion. A Bri-
tish Governor-General, Mountbatten, intervenes when his
colleague Cunningham’s invasion misfires and insists on
bringing in the intervention of the Security Council. A Bri-
tish delegate, Noel Baker, denies that there has been any
such thing as an invasion, although his own agents had been
busy in planning and organising it, and insists that the
“local” “people’s revolt” which had taken place, can be
solved only if the popular Government, which they failed to
overthrow by force of arms, is removed, and a plebiscite is
held under the aegis of the Security Council.

And finally, a British C.-in-C., Gracey, enters the scene
just in time to fill in the last minor detail, without which
one party to the dispute could not be paraded as a party at
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all, and the dispute itself, which they were inflating so pain-
stakingly, would collapse like a burst bubble.

The stage arrangements being now complete, the Indian
Government, too, proceeded to roll off its set and rotund
speeches, pathetically unaware that the role allotted to it
was not of the hero in a moving tragedy but of the simple-
ton in a cheap and insulting farce.

\Va
The Plot Thickens

A GAINST this background of hurried manoeuvrings,
the UNCIP formally adopted and presented to both
the Governments a resolution proposing a cease-fire, The
resolution (August 13, 1948) proposed: (a) an immediate
and unconditional cease-fire, to be carried into effect simul-
taneously on both sides of the fighting line; UN Military
Observers to supervise the implementation and mainten-
ance of the cease-fire; (b) “the presence of Pakistan troops
in the territory of the Jammu and Kashmir State” having
created an ‘“‘entirely new and unforeseen (!) situation”,
Pakistan should withdraw its forces and also “use its best
endeavours” to secure the withdrawal of “tribesmen and
Pakistan nationals not nominally resident in Kashmir.” At
the same time, India was also to withdraw the bulk of her
armed forces, retaining only the minimum required for
security and the maintenance of law and order. The areas
evacuated by Pakistan troops would be administered by
“local authorities” under the surveillance of the UNCIP.
And (c) the Governments of India and Pakistan were both
to reaffirm their desire to allow the people of the State tc
decide their accession to India or Pakistan through the
“democratic procedure” of a “free plebiscite.”

Within a week of receiving the cease-fire resolution the
Government of India informed the Commission, by a letter
dated August 20, 1948, that it had accepted it, “animated by
a sincere desire to promote the cause of peace and thus
uphold the principles and prestige of the United Nations.”

However, as was revealed sometime later, the Govern-
ment of India made two important reservations regarding
para (b) of the resolution and brought them to the Com-
mission’s notice.

The first reservation was with regard to the highly
strategic areas in the north of the Valley—Gilgit, Skardu
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and areas of Ladakh. The Government of India pointed out
that in these areas skirmishes of a local nature were taking
place aided by groups of tribal raiders. The Indian army
was currently moving its units up to these remote and in-
accessible territories and the Government of Jammu and
Kashmir had every intention to send its officers and re-esta-
blish the administration there. The Government of India
maintained that as no widespread organised resistance had
occurred in these territories, they could not be put on a
level with the “Azad Kashmir territory” to the west of
Kashmir, and the “local authorities” stipulated in the Com-
mission’s cease-fire resolution could only mean local officers
recruited by the Jammu and Kashmir Government and
owing loyalty to it.

The Commission acknowledged this reservation, and in
a letter to Nehru, dated August 25, 1948, said evasively,
in a vague and equivocal sentence which was open to varied
interpretations and to which various members of the Com-
mission were later to give contradictory interpretations: “It
(the Commission) believes that the question raised in your
letter could be considered in the implementation of the re-
solution.”

The second reservation of the Indian Government was
at a later date, and was in respect of the disarmament and
disbandment of the ‘“Azad Forces.”

It must be noted in this connection that in the corres-
pondence over the cease-fire resolution, which the Commis-
sion published in September 1948, the Commission men-
tioned two significant admissions that Zafarullah had made
to it: first, on August 4, that the “Pakistan army was at
present responsible for the overall command of the Azad
Kashmir Forces.” And second, on August 9, that the “Azad
Kashmir Forces were operationally controlled by the Pakis-
tan army.”

Armed with this information as the Commission was,
it would seem obvious that in preparing its cease-fire reso-
Iution just four days later, the Commission would either
specifically call upon Pakistan to disarm and disband these
forces, or that it would assume that with the withdrawal
of Pakistan’s armed forces the Azad Forces under Pakistan’s
“overall command” would also logically and automatically
be wound up and cease to exist.

The resolution, of course, remained silent on this point.
And after India had signified its acceptance of the treacher-
ously vague resolution, S. Ibrahim, head of the “Azad Kash-
mir Council”’, came forward to contradict Zafarullah’s
stand.
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“The Azad Kashmir Government is not subservient
to the Government of Pakistan, and if the UN Commis-
sion enters into any unilateral agreement with the
Pakistan Government over the cease-fire order, we will
not agree to it.” (Tribune, August 28, 1948.)

It was only four months later when the cease-fire pro-
posals were presented again at the General Assembly ses-
sion of the UNO in Paris, that the Government of India
sought clarification of this point. The Columbian Chairman
of the Commission, Alfonso Lozano, and the American
Principal Secretary, Eric Colban, met Nehru in person on
December 20 and 22, and the entire field of the cease-fire,
the truce and the other prerequisites of the plebiscite were
surveyed and discussed.

A fortnight later an Aide Memoire covering these dis-
cussions was published in the Indian Press. It is an amazing
document, showing a startling reversal of the traditional
roles. Nehru seeks elucidation after clarification; Nehru,
growing bolder, raises objection after objection — and the
American and Columbian diplomats dare not even demur!
Lozano and Colban quietly agree!

Nehru suggests that India could accept the plebiscite
proposals only after Pakistan implements the first and se-
cond parts of the cease-fire resolution. Lozano agrees.

Nehru feels his way forward and suggests again that
the Plebiscite Administrator could expect only that much
assistance from the Kashmir Government as he needed to
organise the plebiscite machinery and to ensure its impar-
tiality. He could not, in other words, function as the omni-
potent dictator, the super Prime Minister, super Command-
er-in-Chief, and super Chief Magistrate that the original
Security Council resolution (April 21, 1948) wanted him to
be. Lozano agrees!

Nehru insists that in the “freedom of propaganda” which
the Plebiscite Administrator would demand for the prota-
gonists of Pakistan, there could be no room for whipping up
of religious fanaticism, for raising the cry of “Islam in dan-
ger”. Dr. Lozano agrees again, and, caught in Nehru’s hypno-
tic spell, enthusiastically goes a step further: “Such acti-
vity”, he asserts, ‘“‘could not be considered legitimate” and
“the same test would apply to freedom of Press and
speech.” (Aide Memoire of Nehru-Lozano talks, Indian
News Chronicle, January 14, 1949.)

Nehru now boldly attacks the vexed problem of “Azad

Forces”:
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“Pakistan had raised about 25 battalions of 28,000 to
30,006 men who now form the Azad Kashmir Forces
and the presence of such a large number of armed peo-
ple would not be conducive to the security of the inha-
bitants in rebel-occupied territory.”

These forces, he triumphantly demands, must not only
be disbanded but, first of all, disarmed.

By this time Lozano and his American Adviser, Colban,
are completely crushed. They nod their heads submissively
in hurried assent.

“In view of this explanation, Dr. Lozano agreed
that there should be large-scale disarming of Azad
Forces, not merely disbanding.” (Aide Memoire of talks,
Indian News Chronicle, January 14, 1949.)

Nehru strides triumphantly across the room, while our
crest-fallen American diplomats pick up their papers hastily
and beat an embarrassed retreat! Nehru's victory is
sweeping and complete. And woe-betide him who dares to
suggest otherwise. Woe-betide the sceptic who dares to sug-
gest that the fairy-tale of these ready “agreements” sounds
too good to be true. Only a cynical and unbelieving Com-
munist would deny that Nehru has beaten these foreign
diplomats to a pulp, and assert that the Indian Government
has been fooled!

Within eight days of this pathetic farce, on Jan. 1, 1949,
the cease-fire was announced.

In the meantime a grimmer and more ominous drama
was being enacted in the Commission’s negotiations with
Pakistan.

At the same time as the Government of India, and on
exactly the same lines, the Pakistan Government also sought
clarifications, and made reservations on precisely the same
controversial issues, the ‘Northern territories” and the
“Azad Forces.”

Just a day before India informs the Commission of its
interpretation of para (b) of the cease-fire resolution,
Zafarullah, on August 19, 1948, writes to the Commission
seeking confirmation of what the Commission has given
him to understand on identically the same point:

“In para A (3) the Commission proposes that
pending a final solution the territory at present under
the control of the Azad Kashmir Government will be
administered bv that Government.” (Cease-fire corres-
pondence, Hindustan Times, Sept. 7, 1948.)

X3
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The very next day, as we have seen, India writes to the
Commuission giving a diametrically opposite interpretation
of the resolution, and informs the Commission of its inten-
tions of re-establishing its own administration in a part of
these disputed territories. The Commission does not inform
India of the understanding it has given to Pakistan, but
gives India the impression that this matter is to be raised
“in the implementation of the resolution.”

Barely two weeks after this, on Sept. 3, 1948, Zafarullah
raises the same question again and reiterates his Govern-
ment’s stand. He pointedly defines the “evacuated terri-
tory”, the administration of which, according to the cease-
fire resolution, will be through “local officers under the sur-
veillance of the Commission”, as those territories “in the
State of Jammu and Kashmir which were at the time of
evacuation under the effective control of the Pakistan High
Command.”

These territories, he emphasises further, must be admi-
nistered by the ‘“authorities in de facto control” of them,
must be administered, in other words, by the Pakistan Gov-
ernment. (Vide Dr. Chyle’s report to the Security Council,
Dec. 1949.)

At the same time, and in the same letters, the Pakistan
Government makes known its reservations in respect to the
“Azad Kashmir Forces”, clearly stipulating that they must
remain intact.

The Commission does not inform the Pakistan Govern-
ment even at this stage that it has received reservations
from the Government of India, and that it has already given
assurances on these points. Nor is the Government of India
informed of what the Commission is doing on the other side.
The Commission quietly proceeds to give diametrically
opposite assurances to the Pakistan Government. The
-obvious result of this deep-laid and sinister plot is to harden
both Governments in the positions they have taken, posi-
tions which are not only contrary and mutually exclusive,
but totally irreconcilable,

Zafarullah, unfortunately, is somewhat slow in catching
on the facinating plot, and tactlessly asks for a written
confirmation of the assurances given.

“Since your letter of Sept. 3”7, he writes to the
Commission, ‘“does not contain the precise and full
record of the clarifications and elucidations of proposals
furnished by the Commission in the course of discus-
sions in our meetings of August 31 and Sept. 2, may I
venture to enquire whether the Government of Paki-
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stan, in drawing up the statement of their views on the
Commission’s resolutions, have or have not been justi-
fied in relying upon the clarifications, elucidations and
assurances orally furnished by the Commission in the
course of their discussions.” (Cease-fire correspondence,
Hindustan Times, Sept. 7, 1948.)

Written confirmation indeed! What is this fellow up
to? Can’t he use his brains? What does he think this is,
an ordinary village-store transaction in which ledgers are
filled in and accounts kept? Tut, tut, my man, how old-
fashioned you are! Back home in America we don’t believe
in such petty details. In our country, where gigantic busi-
ness enterprises hold the fate of millions in giant hands.
where the Almighty Dollar reigns supreme and whole
nations are bought and sold, we use better methods than
these. We use sharp wits, the gangster’s smash-and-grab
tactics, and a master-conjurer’s skill. We can use any wea-
pon we like, but the main thing is, don’t give any damned
thing in writing. Don’t leave any traces behind.

And the Commission maintains a discreet—and digni-
fied—silence.

But this gem of worldly wisdom is lost on Zafarullah.
He looks at the Commission again in dull uncomprehension
and repeats his embarrassing demand. Worse, he goes a step
further. He writes to the Commission stating that the Paki-
stan Government is prepared to accept the cease-fire
proposal, but subject to a few conditions, the main being
that the elucidations and clarifications given to Pakistan
are signified as being acceptable to India; and, conversely,
the clarifications and assurances given to India are accepted
by Pakistan.

Get the consent of each to the assurances given to the
other! You mean we inform India of the assurances we've
given to Pakistan and inform Pakistan of the promises we've
given to India? Have you ever heard of such a thing? Why
man. it's against all the rules, it is against our holiest prin-
ciples! You can’t succeed in business like this. We really
thought vou are on our side. But you’re worse than Nehru.
He was quite happy to accept any promises we set before
him. But you..... you.... you must be raving mad!

Loud and bitterly must the Commission have lamented
with the Indian proverb about the ‘Dana dushman” and the
“Bewaqoof dost.”*

And on Sept. 6, 1948, the Commission announced in 2
huff that the conditions stipulated by Pakistan being unac-

= «A wise enemy is better than a foolish friend”.
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ceptable, “immediate effectuation of its cease-fire proposal
of August 13 is not to be envisaged.” In simpler language,
the cease-fire talks had broken down.

The New York Herald-Tribune, better posted, perhaps,
with “‘inside” information than either of the two Govern-
ments here, immediately forecast that it was “even doubt-
ful whether further good offices would be made.” (Sept.
8, 1948.)

At the same time, the Commission patted the Govern-
ment of India graciously on the back, and the Chairman
sent a letter appreciating “the spirit in which the decision
(to accept cease-fire unconditionally) is taken.” (Hindustan
Times, Sept. 7, 1948.)

Meanwhile, on Zafarullah the light of understanding
suddenly dawned. He now understood that, which, much
to the Commission’s discomfiture, he had earlier failed to
grasp: that there was more in the Commission’s reticence
than the eye could see. In a spirit of rare and commendable
sportsmanship he quickly fell in line, “to play the game
in the spirit of the game.” And when the cease-fire proposals
were taken up again, in the following months at the Paris
session of the Security Council and the General Assembly,
not once did he repeat his questions about “written confir-
mations.” And not for one full year, until Sept. 1949, did
he so much as breathe about the assurances and promises
that the Commission had so obligingly given him.

When the cease-fire resolution was brought up for dis-
cussion again at the Paris session of the Security Counecil,
Bajpai, sublimely innocent of the sinister traps that had
been quietly laid, began with loud and fulsome professions
of unshakable faith:

“We still have the fullest faith in the United Nations
and we are desirous of reaching a peaceful settlement
with Pakistan”. (Hindustan Times, Nov. 27, 1948.)

I see no evil; I hear no evil; I speak no evil!

Hardly had he proceeded further than Zafarullah rose
to confront him: Then why don’t you accept an immediate
cessation of fighting?

Taken aback, Bajpai fumbled for a reply: “But we have
always been for an immediate cessation of fighting, it is you
who refused to agree.”

Who, 1? Why, of course not. I only suggested a few
minor amendments. If you could accept them.

“I will agree here and now. I am ready for, and
have always been ready for a cease-fire without any
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conditions. The truce proposals demand the withdrawal
of Pakistan forces. To this Pakistan has no objection.”
(Hindustan Times, Nov. 27, 1948.)

Blissfully unaware still of all the secret understandings
and assurances that had gone to produce this dramatic and
startling change, the Indian spokesman found that he had
nothing further to say. A clear and simple proposal had
been made by Zafarullah in full view of the world. Weighed
down as his Government already was, with constant anxiety
to “uphold the prestige of the United Nations”, could he
even dream of refusing?

The Anglo-American diplomats, who had been waiting
and watching intently, pounced upon this glorious chance
and, amidst a shower of congratulations and acclamations,
dragged India and Pakistan again into the secret conference
room. A few brief meetings, a few hurried discussions, the
farce of the Nehru-Lozano meeting on Dec. 20, which we
have already mentioned, in which Nehru raises point after
point and Lozano, gushing with generosity. agrees — and
before the bewildered people of Kashmir, who have been
carefully excluded from discussions of their fate, can even
ask what is happening, the deed is done.

Zafarullah magnanimously waives aside his earlier ob-
jections and conditions, and on Jan. 1, 1949, amidst wild
rejoicings in the Anglo-American tamp, the cease-fire is
announced.

The prestige of the United Nations has been saved. And
the Indian Government, too, can join In the rejoicings,
while the rejoicings are good. '

Meanwhile, Kashmir watches the ominous developments
plunged in silent thought. Why, the people begin to ask
themselves, are the Anglo-Americans so anxious to hustle
India and Pakistan into a hasty cease-fire? The answer had
already been guessed some months earlier by sections of
the Indian Press.

“Political quarters here believe that any cease-fire
order at this stage would mean the recognition of the
existing military dispositions, and thereby pave the
way for the partition of Kashmir.” (Indian Nation,
Patna, Aug. 12, 1948.)

The People’s Age nailed down the imperialist motives
sharply:

“Even a cursory study of the Press summary of the

interim report of the UNO Commission and its com-

munique on the plebiscite is sufficient to show that
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what has been loudly claimed as a great victory of the
United Nations is only{the culmination of the nefarious
intrigues of the British and American imperialists
against the democratic mass movement of Kashmlr and
Jammu. .
“The pohcy that was being pursued by them till
now through the instigation of war and intervention in
Kashmir and Jammu with the help of Pakistan reaction-
aries, mainly the annihilation of the democratic mass
movement in Kashmir and Jammu and the enslavement
of their people, and the setting up on their soil of Anglo-
. American war-bases directed against the Socialist
Soviet Union and the democratic forces in China, would
now be attempted to be carried forward to completion
.‘through ‘peaceful’ means and under cover of the ‘free
land impartial’ plebiscite that will now be held under
'the direction of the military and political agents of Ame-
pcan lmperlahsm masked as the UNO Commission
¢flicers—~..

! “Thelr aim is to foster and consolidate reaction
during the holding of the plebiscite and to create a
situation of friction and conflict inside the State, so
that, whatever the outcome of the plebiscite, partition
of the State becomes inevitable and is carried through

i in accordance with the plan already prepared by the

l\ Anglo-American imperialists.” (People’s Age, Jan. 16,
' 1949.)

And as the ominous answer began to dawn on its people,
Kashmir tried again, slowly and with difficulty, to stir itself.
Held in check by the Indian Government ever since July
1948, when Nehru and Baldev Singh flew to Srinagar to call
off and scatter the growing movement of anger and protest,
paralysed since then by the helpless inactivity of its own
leaders, Kashmir tried to move again. Reports like the fol-
lowing began to appear occasionally in the Indian Press.

“The talks of a possible move to partition Kashmir
have evoked the strongest possible resentment through-
out the Jammu and Kashmir 8tate. Reports of meet-
ings and processions condemning any such move are
being daily received here.” (Hindustan Times, Sept.
12, 1948.)

But the resentment of which the Indian papers now
spoke was no longer of that deep and volcanic intensity
which threatened a few months ago to shake the Anglo-Ame-
rican plans to their very foundations. Then, the National
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Conference rose proudly on the crest of an angry wave and
called for armed struggle to fight imperialist intervention.
Now it was just a few gestures of mild protest. A few occa-
sional speeches, a feeble tremor which passed through an
isolated section and gradually died out.

The Indian Government’s intervention *“to uphold the
prestige of the United Nations”, just in the nick of time,
Jl;.fst zt.-ls the storm was gathering to burst, had had its lasting
effect.

The Indian Government itself was busy trying to clarify
its foreign policy to the satisfaction of the Anglo-Americans.
Throughout the six months that the Commission was
engaged in the nefarious task of laying a trap for
India and Kashmir, reactionary circles in India were equally
engaged in the task of tying India’s foreign policy ever-
more closely to the imperialist warmonger’s camp. Every
blow that the Commission struck at Kashmir’s freedom and
integrity was utilised by these reactionary circles to whisper
the advice of dishonour and shame.

In their view, the Anglo-Americans were not striking
India in the face because they wanted Kashmir for them-
selves, but only because they were displeased with India
because of her own “barren policy”, of her “attempted neu-
trality.” Pakistan had won Anglo-Americans’ support
simply because it had lined up unhesitatingly behind them.
And if only India would consent to walk into the Anglo-
American parlour and submit quietly to their will, it could
earn the masters’ favours again.

In Sept. 1948, it was learnt that Nehru was to leave
shortly to attend a conference of Commonwealth Premiers
in London. The Congress Party in the Constituent Assembly
met to discuss his foreign policy and the question of India
quitting the Commonwealth, to which the Congress was
pledged throughout the last twenty years. On the eve of
the meeting an obviously inspired message was circulated
to the Indian Press from New Delhi.

“India must frame her foreign policy in a manner
as to maintain the present cordial relationship with the
countries of the world, particularly Great Britain and
the Commonwealth countries..... The possibility of
Pakistan continuing as a member of the Commonwealth
of Nations may weigh {o a great extent in making a
decision on this issue.”

A month later, as Nehru was embarking for London,
Birla’s Eastern Ecoromist came out again to openlyv lav
down the line for him. India must not quit the Commos-
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wealth, it insisted. Membership of the Commonwealth
would give India all the pretty things that she so badly
longed for. It would—

(13

.... give us a bulwark against Communism; it would
bring us within the range of Commonwealth defence
... It would give us what we sorely need, friends in the
United Nations.”

And all these numerous advantages, the benign protec-
tion of the Anglo-Americans, for no price at all! — for doing
just that which Birla and his kind were only too anxious to
do.... joining in the holy crusade against the Godless
Communists.

Already on August 15, Sardar Patel, the “iron man”,
had warned of the dangers which lay in store for India with
the impending rout of Chiang Kai-shek in China and the
collapse of the French and British gangster regimes in Viet-
Nam and Malaya, and had threatened to put down similar
subversive elements in India with a “firm hand”, lest India
go the China way.

“The price that is asked is that we should shed our
hesitancy in taking sides on the international front, and
go in without reservations against the USSR... It will
mean—Iet this be frankly stated — that India will go in
with a power-bloc.” (Eastern Economist, Oct. 22, 1948.)

With Nehru’s return to India in Nov. 1948, it became
known that, notwithstanding his profuse and repeated
denials, India had agreed at the London Conference to throw
overboard its old and time-honoured pledge to quit the
British Commonwealth.

And just at the time when the farce of the Lozano-
Nehru talks was being staged, just in those critical days
when India was signifying its acceptance of the imperialist-
sponsored cease-fire. which would “pave the way for the
partition of Kashmir™ and seal Kashmir's doom, the Eastern
Economist came forward to triumphantly announce India’s
final line-up behind the imperialists, and proceeded to rub
in the real meaning of this line-up openly, without hesitation
or shame:

“In practice—whatever political quibbling may say
—our foreign policy has now been given a definite
orientation. It is towards the foreign policy which will
keep us primarily on friendly terms with the Common-
wealth. ... Association with the Commonwealth which
is more friendly to the USA than to the USSR implies
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that we are in effect leaning towards the USA. The
logical consequence of this political fact should be clear.
We cannot in the United Nations or elsewhere take a
line exrcept on @ minor issue which is contrary to that
taken by the Commonwealth and the USA. (Deec. 31,
1948—italics ours.)

The forcible seizure of Kashmir by the Anglo-Ameri-
cans, for partition, for the overthrow of its national govern-
ment, for the suppression of its freedom, was certainly no
“minor issue”. On this issue, therefore, the Almighty Birla
could not take a line “contrary to that taken by the Com-
monwealth and the U.S.A.” India’s Big Business having thus
voiced its frank opinion, the Indian Government could have
nothing further to say. At the most it could stand by and
wring its hands helplessly, a pathetic and helpless witness
of the gt 1stly tragedy that was staring Kashmir in the face.

VI
Groundwork for Partition

FOR the Anglo-Americans, the announcement of a cease-

fire marked a decisive stage in the unfolding of their
ultimate plan. And the manner in which it had been brought
about was quite in the highest traditions of imperialist
diplomacy, a singular achievement of which they could,
indeed, be justifiably proud.

Time and again, their newspapers, the London Econo-
mist, the London Times, and the Manchester Guardian, had
inadvertently given away the real objective they had in
mind. And only recently, at the Paris session of the UN
General Assembly, speculation had been rife over some
secret proposals “envisaging the eventual vivisection of the
State through a regional plebiscite or otherwise.” (Hindus-
tan Standard, Dec, 9, 1948.)

But the astute diplomats who had taken Kashmir’s fate
in their hands, knew that the time to announce their final
plans was not yet. The decision to partition Kashmir could
be announced only when the groundwork had been fully
laid, only when, through patient and persistent work, those
objective conditions were created in which partition could
emerge logically, naturally, almost spontaneously, amidst
the universal acknowledgement, that it was, after all, “the
only real solution.”



42 KASHMIR

In this, the announcement of the cease-fire was, of
course, a big step forward. And the success with which
they had encouraged both the Governments in their opposite
and contradictory stands, the success with which they had
strengthened the belief of both that their respective view-
points were exactly in accordance with the real opinions of
the Commission, was a bigger achievement still.

But a lot more had to be done. Their first need now
was to leave the two Governments for some time to fight
it out amongst themselves. The next step would be to de-
monstrate to the world that, left to themselves, neither of
the two Governments was prepared to yield a single point
and that. consequently, no “peaceful” solution was possible.
After that they would be able to prove that a continuation
of the dispute was a constant incitement to war between the
two countries, At the same time, they calculated, both the
disputing parties would begin to be tired out in the sterile
quarrel. Both would begin to feel that its continuation was
a strain on their own internal political and economic situa-
tion, both would begin to look eagerly to the Anglo-Ameri-
cans for some solution of the expensive dispute.

And when, as a result of these mischievous manoeuvres,
the people of Kashmir would be finally divided and con-
fused: when their attention would be successfully diverted
from the internal struggle for democratic reforms to the
artificially-inflated slogan of accession to India or Pakistan;
uhen Kashmir’s powerful national movement — the only
force likely to thwart imperialism’s carefully laid plans—
would break down under the strain, then would be the time
for the Anglo-Americans to come in all their triumph and
glory, amidst a fanfare of trumpets, the standard-bearers
of “peace between the sister Dominions”! Then would be
the time to announce, like Solomon, their wise judgement:
“Let India and Pakistan be given roughly equal portions
¢t the State. Whatever remains, the Valley or Gilgit or
Skardu, we’ll take unto ourselves.”

And, if all their calculations turned out right perhaps
the tactics might prove still more fruitful. Perhaps the
need to deliver the judgement even might not arise. Perhaps
India—and Kashmir itself!'-—might one day come running
to them, begging for partition of their own free will.
Already Nehru had come to the stage of suggesting to Dr.
Lozano and Ambassador Colban, in the discussions on Dec.
20 and 22, that “the Commission should not limit its pro-
posals to a plebiscite, but other methods should also be

explored.”
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And the Amrita Bazar Patrika had suggested wishfully:

“Circumstances may force India and Pakistan to
devise any other feasible means of ascertaining the wiil
of the people, or find out any other solution of the Kash-
mir embroglio. (Feb. 21, 1949 — italics ours.)

The scheme was beginning to work. It was near pro-
ducing the desired results. A little more patience, a few
more months to let India and Kashmir stew in their own
juice— and soon enough they would come before the Com-
mission in a chastened and sobered mood. And when India
itself began to ask for partition, not a speck of blame would
attach to the Anglo-Americans for doing just what the dis-
putant parties asked them to do! What a master-stroke of
policy that would be! What brilliant ingenuity! What a
classic example of diplomatic skill, so breath-taking in its
simplicity, so profound in worldly wisdom!

Inspired by the brilliant successes achieved thus far,
fascinated by the magnificient possibilities opening out
hefore it, the Commission got down to work again. On Jan.
3, 1949, the Commission passed another resolution outlining
the principles for a truce and plebiscite, and providing for
the appointment of a Plebiscite Administrator. According
to the Commission’s resolution:

“All civil and military authorities within the State,
and the principal political elements of the State, will
be required to co-operate with the Plebiscite Admini-
strator in the preparation for and the holding of the
plebiscite.”

A few days later the Commission announced exultantly
that both the Governments had accepted the principles of
the truce-and-plebiscite resolution, and proceeded promptly
to press both the Governments for its implementation.

And the mischief began. India notified the Commission
of its willingness to begin withdrawing its forces, but de-
manded first, on the basis of the assurances given, the dis-
armament and disbandment of the Azad Kashmir Forces and
the handing over to the Kashmir Government of the strate-
gically situated “Northern” areas.

Immediately the foreign Press began to splash news
from the Commission’s headquarters, prominently giving
the Pakistan point of view. Even papers from Malaya and
Australia joined in the chorus:

“Zafarullah has told the Commission that Pakistan
considers that the areas now occupied by Pakistan and
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‘Azad Kashmir Forces’ should be administered by the
‘Azad Government’ and not by Sheikh Abdullah’s
Government.” (Singapore States Times, Feb. 10, 1949.)

“The Pakistan Government in its statement on the
negotiations for a settlement of the Kashmir issue..
said that the areas of Kashmir at present occupied by
forces under the overall control of the Pakistan High
Command would remain occupied by Azad Kashmir
Forces.” (Melbourne Age, Jan. 18, 1949.)

Both the Governments were firm on their stand. Both
the Governments refused to budge. And as the deadlock
grew worse, and signs of impatience began to be showr,
the Commission came forward as the peace-maker again:
Is it the Azad Kashmir areas and Forces that you are quar-
relling about?— they asked both the Governments with an
air of assumed innocence. But why all this unnecessary
heat? We have still to study those arecas and then we will
tell you what is to be done.

On March 12, the Commission announced that it had
set up a sub-committee to study the administrative machi-
nery and problems of the Azad Kashmir territory. India’s
viewpoint, it will be remembered, was that since in the
Northern areas there was no regular Pakistan administra-
tion functioning and no regular organised body of troops
fighting, she had every right and every intention to move in
her garrisons and re-establish the administration, and that
the Commission was bound, even after the cease-fire, to
ensure the Indian Government freedom towards this end.

Simultaneously, the Pakistan Press reported that a
“split” had occurred between the two “Azad” leaders, Sardar
Ibrahim and Ch. Ghulam Abbas. S. Ibrahim’s “Cabinet”
had resigned and the more reliable Pakistan agent, Abbas,
had officially taken over.

At roughly the same time, it was reported that Pakistan
had moved its forces into the Northern areas, and had taken
over the administration of Gilgit. Skardu and Baltistan.
A few weeks later, while discussions for a settlement of the
truce line were still going on, the Statesman reported
that Pakistan troops had infiltrated into the Gurez sector
and Lubrigen Valley north-east of Keran.

The significance and timeliness of these moves was lost
on no one. Pakistan had moved in. A fait accompli was
presented to the Commission's sub-committee. And all
that the Commission needed to do now was to express its
heart-felt sympathy with India and plead its helplessness
in the matter.
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As the Czechoslovak member of the UNCIP, Dr. Chyle,
was to inform the world later—

“The situation in the Northern areas had, meanwhile,
undergone a material change in that the Pakistan army
..... conquered many strategically important places
during the interval....The Commission is bound to
admit that while the reservation of the Government
of India of August 20, 1948 (with regard to the Northern
areas— Author) may be legally valid, it is physically
impossible to implement it.” (Dr. Chyle's minority
report to the Security Council, Dec. 19, 1949.)

And if the astonished Government of India sought to
remind the Commission politely that it had long ago com-
municated its intention to re-establish the Jammu and Kash-
mir Government administration in these areas, and that the
Commission in its letter dated August 25, 1948 had given a
clear-cut assurance that the matter would come up “in the
implementation of the resolution”, the Commission had
only to assume an air of injured innocence and protest:
Assurance? What assurance? You seem to have misunder-
stood us completely. All that you said was that there wasn’
any regular Pakistan administration in these areas and no
regular troops fighting. And all that we said was that we
would study the situation in these areas later. And we have
studied it now, haven’t we? We have sent our sub-committee
there.

“This obligation of the Commission,” as Dr. Chyle
called it plainly, “the Commission now explains as only

a declaration of an intention to study later the situation

in the North. (Ibid.)

”9

And what was the result of the Commission’s “study”
A foregone conclusion.

“The Truce Sub-Committee,” reported the Man-
chester Guardian while these discussions were still
under way, “which recently visited Western Kashmir is
believed to have reported that it found a well-establish-
ed administration in being in this area, so that there is
small prospect for enforcing the rominal suzerainty of
the Jammu and Kashmir State over this area.” (April 9.
1949—italics ours.)

So that’s that, And there is no use wasting your time
over it. And the Commission proceeded rather bluntly to
demand that India withdraw her forces, and to be quick
about it.

India demurred and pressed the Commission to first
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secure the disarmament and disbandment of the “Azad
Kashmir Forces.”

By this time, Dr. Chyle tells us:

“The Azad Forces grew by the spring of 1949 into
32 disciplined and fully armed battalions, which, accord-
ing to an evalution by the Military Adviser to the
Commission, represent a ‘formidable force.” Owing to
this fact, which is at variance with Part I, Section
B of the said resolution (cease-fire resolution, August
13, 1948— Author) forbidding both parties from increa-
sing their military potential, the situation has under-
gone a material and absolute change.” (Dr. Chyle’s
report, Dec. 1949.)

But the Commission closed its eyes discreetly to the
“material and absolute change” which was taking place on
the other side of the cease-fire line. The Commission was
in no mood to be bothered about such minor details as a
violation of agreement by Pakistan. And rightly. If you
become too petty and punctilious about such minor details,
too much of stickler for propriety and good faith, you
only encourage the other side in such inconvenient virtues.
And if India, for instance, were to become equally insistent
that the Commission implement the very letter of the large-
hearted assurances it had given, the entire neatly laid plot
would come to a sudden and sorry end.

So the Commission merely hummed and hawed, and
tried, as gracefully as it could, to wriggle out of its contra-
dictory assurances.

The Commission plunged into a bewildering whirl
of meetings, discussions and negotiations. From Srinagar
to Delhi, from Delhi to Karachi, and from Karachi back
again. And after a great deal of strenuous labour, on April
15 it produced “fresh proposals”, aiming, as the foreign
Press reported, at “adjusting the conflicting viewpoints
within the framework of the August 13, 1948 resolution, and
consistent with the spirit of commitments already entered
into.”

India again pointed out politely that the fresh proposals
contained nothing fresh in them and that they were not
consistent with the commitments already given.

But the Commission was quick to notice that, in spite
of its apparent obduracy, the Government of India was
already beginning to give way under the strain, Finding it
difficult to stand up to Anglo-American pressure, the Gov-
ernment of India had already begun to water down its
stand.
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“A certain amount of flexibility,” the Indian News
Chronicle’s special correspondent explained in an obviously
ingpired report,

“may not be considered unreasonable with regard to the
time when the process of such disarming and disband-
ment should begin.... But the principle of disarming
and disbandment must be accepted by Pakistan.” (April
20, 1949.)

The significance of this softening was not lost on the
Commission. Past experience had shown that every time
India, or for that matter Kashmir, was seen to stiffen its back
menacingly, it was best to beat a hasty retreat, and to pat
India graciously on the head. But as soon as Indw showed
signs of yielding, that was the time to wield the heavy
stick and hit with all your might. And now that the cease-
fire had already been enforced, now that India was already
caught helplessly in the tentacles of its pro-imperialist
foreign policy, now that Kashmir’'s national movement was
already beginning to founder on the rocks through which
its leaders had failed to steer it—now was the time to exert
some extra pressure and bring both India and Kashmir
finally to their knees.

Where bluff had produced such brilliant results so far,
the bully’s bluster and blackmail was bound to succeed.

Within a week of the Press reports that the Government
of India was willing to be more ‘‘reasonable” over the issue
of the Azad Forces, the Commission pretended to indicate
its impatience with this long-drawn-out and futile discus-
sion. It would not have its time wasted by India’s “ifs” and
“buts”. On April 28 it informed the Indian Government,
brusquely and without much ceremony, that it was pre-
senting its “final terms” for the withdrawal of the Indian
army. “Further discussions”, the Statesman reported, “are
not considered necessary” (April 28. 1949).

The Commission had asked for “unreserved acceptance”
of the terms. Both the Governments were given just one
week to make up their mind and deliver their replies. And
if either of the Governments failed to complv with these
“final terms”, the Commission would report directly to the
Security Council — and then God help vou when the Big
Bosses, Warren Austin and Noel Baker. hear of vour impu-
dence and cheek!

But much to the Commission’s astonishment the bully-
ing did not work. A Government of India spokesman
announced on May 3 that India could not accept the “final
terms”, as they were at total variance with the undertaking
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the Commission had previously given. The imperialist
Press promptly seized upon this statement as yet another
example of India’s notorious intransigence. Under a pro-
minent headline, “India Set To Reject UN Plan On Kash-
mir”, the New York Times reported:

“The spokesman said the Commission wanted India
to start pulling her troops out of Kashmir without wait-
ing for a decision on the withdrawal and disbandment
of 32 battalions on the Pakistan side.” (May 3, 1949.)

The Government of India daring to refuse! The Gov-
ernment of India rejecting the Commission’s “final terms”,
announced with such a fanfare of publicity and backed up
with the Commission’s direst threats! Could the Commission
believe its eyes?

But this was more than astonishing. This was most
embarrassing. What could the Commission do now? Could
they go and report to the Security Council, as they had
loudly threatened to do? But how could they explain in a
public report the somewhat tricky business of the profuse
assurances given to India, which, much to the Commission’s
discomfiture, the Indian Government seemed to have taken
seriously? And how could they prevent India from speak-
ing up plainly in the open Security Council debate and
giving away the whole sordid story of assurances which the
Commission was trying so assiduously to break? A public
debate is a most embarrassing thing, particularly when
you have a secret skeleton in your cupboard which you
must, for sometime at least, hide. The secret conference room
is the only place where such inconvenient matters can be
straightened out.

The Commission decided to swallow its earlier thunder,
and announced meekly that it would not report to the Secu-
rity Council, that it would patiently pursue further negotia-
tions, “to fill the gap between the points of view of India
and Pakistan.” To fill the gap, in plainer words, between
the assurances given to India and the diametrically opposite
assurances given to Pakistan.

But by now the suspicions of the Indian people were
beginning to be aroused. Already on April 6, H. V.
Kamath, M.P., had asked in the Indian Parliament, whe-
ther it was a fact that the disbandment of the Azad Kashmir
Government and the Azad Forces was a part of the cease-
fire agreements. Nehru, with the air of a school-master
rebuking an errant child for having poked his nose into a
matter which Was norre of his business, replied:
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“The Hon’ble member is getting mixed up between
cease-fire and other things. So far as the cease-fire is
concerned it was a pure and simple cease-fire. But, of
course, behind that cease-fire were other developments,
i.e., certain resolutions passed by the Security Council
and the UNCIP.... As far as the liquidation of the
Azad Kashmir Government is concerned, this question
did not arise, because we have never acknowledged the
existence of any such thing.”

Mr. Kamath: “What is the position of Pakistan
troops in Azad Kashmir territory?”

Pt. Nehru: “It is a simple fact which is very
clearly stated in the resolution”. (Indian News Chro-
nicle, April 7, 1949.)

The verbose reply conveyed nothing on the point all
India was eager to know, viz., was it a fact that the disband-
ment and disarmament of the Azad Kashmir Forces was a
pari of the understanding specifically arrived at between
the Indian Government and the Commission prior to the
cease-fire? And was it a fact that having secured India’s
consent to the cease-fire this understanding was now being
broken?

With Nehru’s vague and non-committal answer the peo-
ple remained, as before, in the dark. But with each succes-
sive move, they had begun to form their own conclusions:

“Observers believe,” wrote the Indian News Chro-
nicle, “that some of the assurances given to India’s
Prime Minister by the Chairman of the Commission
(Dr. Lozano) on matters such as withdrawal, disarming
and disbandment of Pakistan forces and the strength
of Pakistan and Indian forces to be kept in Kashmir,
have been materially changed.” (May 19, 1949.)

As yet it was only an isolated suspicion of breach of
jaith, based on the limited knowledge of only one of the
disputant parties, and that, too, in a hesitant and unsure
whisper. That itself, the Commission realised, was bad
enough. But suppose the Government of India also decided
to speak up bluntly and plainly.- And what would happen
if Zafarullah took it into his head to blurt out the story-of
the assurances of which he had last year demanded “written
confirmations”, and of which he had till then whispered not
a uord!

The very thought was too frightening to entertain. And
the Commission quickened its desperate efforts to straighten
the mess of lies and false protnises, before the laboriously

K 4
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‘erected edifice of double-dealing came crashing around its
ears.

Dr. Lozano’s name, the Comm1ss1on noticed, was being
mentioned far too frequently in the Indian Press Dr.
Lozano was being remembered as the man who, along with
the American diplomat Colban, had given Nehru his profuse
and unlimited assurances. Dr. Lozano it was who, with
Colban again, had conducted the more decisive of the nego-
tiations with Pakistan, soon after Pakistan had- tactlessly
-asked for a written conﬁrmatlon of some assurances glven
to it.

On June 10, Dr. Lozano is asked by the Commission to
meet both the Governments to *“discuss” their stand. This
mess was of his own making — let him go. and straighten it
himself! A gang of coffin-thieves seldom holds together
when their luck is running out.

Dr. Lozano proceeds first to Delhi to meet the Indian
‘Government. The Indian Press begins to remonstrate that
so long as his famous Aide Memoire stands, and so long as
he is there on the Commission to vouchsafe for the authen-
ticity of the Aide M emoire, how can the Commission. change
its stand?

On June 22, 1949, Dr. Lozano comes to harachl to meet
the Pakistan Government
" On June 24, 1949, Dr. Lozano resigns.

Simple enough No Dr. Lozano on the Commission, nv
one you can hold responsible for the scrap of paper given
1o you. Another master-stroke of diplomacy! Another
superb achievement of consummate skill! What a treasure-
house of genius posterity will discover in our Kashmir Com-
mission’s work!

VII
The Real Face

'FLUSHED with victory, their confidence in their own

adroitness revived, the Commission decided to tackle
the Indian Government’s much-publicised intransigence
with vigour and boldness again. But bereft of the Colum-
bian delegate Lozano’s nimble wit, the Commission was left
now to the American delegate Macatee’s resources of diplo-
matic skill.

A typical Americanised diplomacy this, a crude and
heavy-footed diplomacy, a wooden and ummaginative diplo-
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macy, a diplomacy lacking all the subtleties and refinement
of Macatee's Latin-American colleague, but as sure and
deadly, and as uncompromising in its determination to stand
“no damn nonsense”,.as a Chicago gangster’s bullet.

Yet it possessed an undoubted virtue. It avoided the
terrifying pitfalls which prior to Dr. Lozano’s resignation
appeared to threaten the entire Commission with doom. The
American diplomat realised with a charming modesty that
if, by an accidental oversight, he happened to put his foot
into the trap he had painstakingly laid for others, he did not
possess the necessary nimbleness or mental agility to
wriggle out with the ease of his graceful Latin-American
colleague,

So the rough-and-ready diplomacy, the safe American
diplomacy of accosting your victim armed with a bag of
dollars in one hand and a heavy club in the other.

. Under the American’s influence the Commission rever-
ted to the tried and trusted method of showing up both the
Governments as equally unwilling to arrive at an agreement,
thereby making it incumbent on the “peace-makers” to
intervene and give a decision on their own. A report was
issued from Lake Success that both the Governments had
refused to accept the Commission’s “compromise proposala .
At the same time, revealed Dr. Ch‘yle

“The American Press brought the news, said to be
emanating from Lake Success, that the Commission
would take the road of arbitration. This news was pub-
lished a day ahead of the date when the US delegate
placed before the Commission his first arbitration pro-
posal.... The US delegate strove to bring the Com-
mission round to the idea of solving the question of
truce through arbitration.... With the quite frankly
avowed intention to bring Admiral Chester Nimitz at
the earliest possible moment to the sub-continent in the
capacity of the arbiter.” (Dr. Chyle’s report, Dec. 1949.)

Admiral Nimitz had, some months ago, been already
appointed as the Plebiscite Administrator, notwithstanding
the fact that no agreement on the terms of the plebiscite had
been reached, and that, bit by bit, the Anglo-American
Powers had begun to reveal that their ultimate objective
lay not in a plebiscite but in partition,

- . ~Admiral Nimitz’s hurried appointment, however, fitted
into America’s global war strategy, the details of which
were only then unfolding. By this time, the bellicose war-
mongering of the Truman Doctrine had been revealed, the
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Marshall Plan had begun its operations, and the North
Atlantic Pact had been hastily pulled into shape.

By this time also, following India’s decision to remain
in the Commonwealth, innumerable war-plans for Eastern
Asia and the Pacific, on the pattern of the Western European
alliances, were being made. A spate of conferences and
negotiations had been held. Various feelers had been put
out. Military conferences in Singapore, peolitical conferences
like the Asian Canference on Indonesia in Delhi, special
Cabinet Envoy’s missions in Australia, New Zealand, India,
Pakistan and Ceylon; the Eden tour on behalf of the Conser-
vative Party to Australia, Malaya and Singapore; the urgent
propositions of Premier Chiefley of Australia for a Pacific
Pact; Chiang Kai-shek’s moves to build an “anti-Communist
bloc” with the American puppets of South Korea and the
Philippines, the Dominion Premiers’ Emergency Conference
in April 1949—indeed a rapid succession of moves had been
made to drag India and other Asian nations into the Anglc-
American plans for war-

Commenting on the real purpose of the Commonwealth
Premiers’ Conference in London, in April 1949, the Daily
Telegraph wrote:

“The real objects of the Conference will be to inte-
grate all Commonwealth countries into the system of
Western defence and devise some sort of co-operatioa
for resisting the spread of Communism in Asia. Active
measures considered will be primarily economic and
directed against Communism’s political offensive, but
the military aspects of the situation will not be over-
looked. What is contemplated is a kind of Indian Ocean
Pact to complement the Atlantic Pact in the historic
task of ‘containing Russia’” (March 14, 1949.)

Thus, with Nimitz’s appointment as Plebiscite Adminis-
trator in Kashmir, enjoying all the vast and unlimited
powers that the Security Council resolution of April 21,
1948 sought to bestow on him, America would succeed in
installing its three outstanding war-time military experts
in the three most strategic “trouble-spots” in the world—
General MacArthur to “soften up” and exterminate the Far
East, General Eisenhower to hold the fort in Europe, and
Admiral Nimitz to wield the whiphand over both India and
Pakistan.

“Since May 1948,” says Dr. Chyle in his report,

“there appeared in the American Press frequent notices

of the shortly expected arrival of Admiral Nimitz on

- . the sub-~continent.”
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But American hopes of an early taking over by Numitz
of his strategic post in India were being belied, India’s
exasperating obstinacy in holding on to the assurances
given to her, and the consequent difficulties in agreeing upon
the Commission’s plebiscite plans was delaying the arrival
of the Admiral. American patience was coming to an end
when Macatee had his little idea: If Nimitz can’t come im-
mediately as the Plebiscite Administrator, why not bring
him in with still wider powers, as the Supreme Arbitrator.

But now another difliculty arose. @ The Czechoslovak
delegate put his foot down. The Commission was not autho-
rised by its terms of reference to propose arbitration, he
insisted. The proposal itself was illegal. The Commission
was “morally and legally bound to invite both the Govern-
ments to a joint political meeting before considering any
other means or solutions,” Dr. Chyle said.

The suggestion for a direct discussion between the two
Governments was not such as to find favour with the other
four members of the Commission, intent, as they were, on
diligently spreading the belief that both the Governments
were completely and absolutely unreasonable, and that
foreign intervention was the only way out.

A joint meeting of the military staffs of the two Gov-
ernments was, at the time, already being held in Karachi
with a view to settle a permanent truce line. The majority
of the Commission members scoffed at the idea of a “joint
political meeting”, and, convinced that the f'oint military
conference already in session would also result in an inevi-
table failure, they countered Dr. Chyle’s insistence with the
offer that they would agree to a joint political conference,
provided the current military conference succeeded. Dr.
Chyle protested against this move to make the high-level
political conference dependent on the military conferencc,
the results of which were as yet unknown. But he had to
give in to the majority decision.

A few days later, much to the chagrin of the American
satellites on the Commission, the Indo-Pakistan military
conference ended in a complete agreement.

“The pessimistic attitude of the Commission,” re-
ported Dr, Chyle, “towards any negotiations for an
agreement on the fixing of a truce line of demarcation
was shown to be entirely unjustified.”

And on July 28, 1949, at Dr. Chyle’s insistence, a propo-
sal te invite both the Governments to a high-level minis-
terial conference to discuss all outstanding issues was
passed. The American delegate, however, abstained from
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voting in its favour. He still persisted in deriding the pro-
posed conference, and, insisting that it was bound to faii,
that it was only a futile waste of the Commission’s time,
again put forward his proposal for arbitration.

On the same day, and in the same meeting in which the
proposal for direct discussions between the two Govern-
ments was passed, the three delegates who had voted for
the Czech proposal voted dutifully for the diametrically
opposite American proposal also!

Both the Governments enthusiastically welcomed the
Czech proposal for a joint conference at ministerial level,
and preparations were begun. A date was fixed, the venue
decided upon, the names of the leaders and members of the
delegations announced, and discussions on the agenda almost
complete, when suddenly, to everyone’s astonishment, just
four days before it was scheduled to begin, the Commission
announced that it had cancelled the conference.

~ Both the Governments protested against the cancella-
tion. Both the Governments, according to Dr. Chyle, “ex-
pressed disappointment and astonishment.” But the Com-
miscion had suddenly remembered again that direct
negotiations between the disputant parties were futile, and
that the conference would not, could not — actually should
not! — succeed,

Immediately the American Press published “forecasts”,
emanating as usual from Lake Success, that the Commission
would now proceed to suggest arbitration. And immediately
the American proposal for arbitration, which had already
been passed by the Commission and which was kept, osten-
sibly a dead secret, ready at hand, waiting for an opportune
moment, was brought forward again.

And then occurred two significant incidents which
threw a flood of light on the manner and method in which
the Commission, and its parent body, the UNO, functioned.

At Dr. Chyle’s insistence that the unauthorised leakages
from the UN Headquarters of news of the Commission’s
secret proposals were a gross interference with the Commis-
sion’s independence and integrity, the Commission sent a
telegram protesting against the leakages and demanding an
investigation into them. The telegram was addressed per-
sonally to the Security Council Chairman. The Chairman
for the month happened to be the Soviet delegate, Jacob
Malik. Dr. Chyle revealed later in his report that an Ame-
rican member of the UN Secretarial staff, Cordel by name,
received the telegram, opened it, and reading its contents,
decided to quietly suppress it!
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Not until the next month, when the British delegate,
Sir Alexander Cadagon, assumed the presidentship of the
Security Council, did the much-too-independent-minded
junior employee choose to deliver the telegram. And what
did Alexander Cadagon do? Reprimand Mr. Cordel, Ame-
rican or no American, for daring to encroach on the rights
and privileges of the highest dignitary of the Security Coun-
cil, the Chairman himself? No, indeed. Rather, he sent
back a telegram, “rejecting” the Commission’s complaint
and reproaching the Commission for having dared to
protest.

The reason behind Cadagon’s apparent pusillanimity
was soon revealed. At the time of this incident the British
and American Governments were themselves directly invol-
ved in a gross and open violation of the Commission’s inde-
pendence and integrity. It was known that a few weeks
earlier, at the time that the American member of the Com-
mission, Macatee, was trying to push forward his arbitration
proposal in face of Dr. Chyle’s strong opposition, Bevin had
convened a hurried conference with the British High Com-
missioners to India and Pakistan and the British Ambassador
to America.

“Political observers were reported to have inter-
preted the conference as reflecting the growing concern
of Britain and the United States over the twenty-month-
old Kashmir dispute.” (Indian News Chronicle, July 23,
1949.) '

And now, just as the above significant incident was
being enacted in the Security Council, Macatee was again
busy transmitting the Commission’s secret proposals to, and
receiving instructions on how to proceed from his Govern-
ment.

_ “The secret arbitration offer of the Commission

was, before being presented to the Governments of

India and Pakistan, placed at the disposal of the Gov-

ernments of USA and the UK.... The verbatim text

of the secret arbitration memorandum came into the
hands of the British High Commissioners in New Delhi
“and Karachi at the same time, or even sooner than it
was officially presented to the Indian Government.”
(Dr. Chyle’s report, Dec. 1949.) :

President Truman and Prime Minister Attlee, as is well
known, made use of this secret information surreptitiously
conveyed to them, to bring “public interventionary pres-
sure” to bear on the Indian Government to accept the arbi-
tration proposal. .
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“The intervention by President Truman and Prime
Minister Attlee,” said Dr. Chyle, “was made possible
on the basis of precise and timely information emanat-
ing from the Commission itself.”

The Commission, however, in public utterances baldly
denied that it had anything to do with this intervention, and
persisted in its glib denials. Dr. Chyle demanded an inves-
tigation. It was refused. The Indian people had begun to
draw their own conclusions:

“It is generally believed in Srinagar that the Com-
mission’s proposals (re. arbitration) were sponsored by
the US delegate, Mr. Robert Macatee, and that he com-
municated it to his Government.” (Hindustan Times,
Sept. 3, 1949.)

But more rude shocks were in store for the Commission.
In spite of the minute care with which the background of
the arbitration proposal had been prepared; in spite of the
timeliness with which the big guns of Britain and America
had been drawn up to concentrate fire on the Indian Gov-
ernment and bring it to its knees; in spite of all the tremen-
dous pressure brought to bear on it, openly by Truman and
Attlee, and secretly through the British High Commissioners
in New Delhi and Karachi; in spite of the temptations that
America held out to India, of “lasting and eternal friend-
ship”, and honey-sweet invitations to Nehru to visit America
in a triumphal tour; in spite of the treacherous advice te
surrender, volunteered by Birla’s reactionary scribes;* in
spite of the most careful concentration by the Commission
of all its tactics and weapons into one final and decisive
knock-out blow, the Government of India refused to yield.
The last and final blow had misfired. Instead, it acted on
the Commission like a boomerang.

Within a week of Truman and Attlee’s dramatic public
intervention, the Commission was called upon by a suspi-
cious public to explain the reasons which had led it to cancel
direct negotiations between the two Governments just on
the eve of the meeting. The Commission was forced to
publish its correspondence on the subject with India and
Pakistan.

In publishing Zafarullah’s letters to it, the Commission
threw a bombshell. For the first time in the last fifteen

* “The wavs of negotiations, mediation and conciliation under
the auspices of the Kashmir Commission having failed to pro-
duce results, it would be quite entirely in keeping with the obli-
gations under the Charter to try arbitration.” (Hindustan Times,
Sept. 3, 1949.)
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months, the stunned and stupefied people of Kashmir learnt
of the clear and detailed assurances given to Pakistan, secret
assurances which gave the lie direct to every promise the
Commission had in those very days given to India!

“In para 2 (C) of its letter dated Sept. 18, 1948,
wrote Zafarullah, quoting chapter and verse, “the Com-
mission gave a categorical assurance to the Pakistan
Government that the resolution of August 13 does not
contemplate the disarmament or disbanding of Azad
Kashmir Forces.”

“According to these documents,” he continues, (B-2
of Part II of Commission’s resolution of August 13, 1948,
read with the Commission’s letter of Sept. 3, 1948, and
para IV (D) of the Commission’s letter of April 23,
1949) “the evacuated territory will be administered by
local authorities, and no official of either the Govern-
ment of India, or the Maharaja’s Government will be
permitted to enter the evacuated territory.” (Indian
News Chronicle, Sept. 8, 1949.)

And this is followed by details of meetings and discus-
sions with Lozano himself.

“While explaining Clause 4 of the Commission’s pro-
posals of Dec. 11, 1948, relating to the plebiscite stage,
Dr. Lozano is reported to have told the Prime Mini-
ster of India on Dec. 20, 1948, that it was the Commis-
sion’s intention that there should be large-scale disarm-
ing and disbanding of Azad Kashmir Forces. Dr. Lozano
assured me on Dec. 25, 1948 (!) that the disarming
and disbanding of Azad Kashmir Forces would take
place only at the plebiscite stage and along with the
final disposal of the Indian and Kashmir State Forces.
He added that the exact scope of this reduction of the
forces on both sides will be determined by the Commis-
sion and the Plebiscite Administrator in consultation
with the authorities concerned. ... This was reaffirmed
by Dr. Lozano and yourself on Feb. 8, 1949, when you
agreed that it was not the Commission’s intention that
Azad Kashmir Forces should be disarmed during the
truce period.” (Zafarullah's letter to Commission’s
Chairman, August 16, 1949.)

The effect of these startling revelations on the people of
Kashmir can better be imagined than described. Shocked
and furious, Kashmir was as if unable to believe its eyes.
Could such downright duplicity be really possible? Could
responsible and respectable members of an international
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commission really resort to such cheap and disgusting trick-
ery, the tricks of petty card-sharpers and thieves? And all
this behind the high-sounding phrases of “peace”, “justice”
and “impartiality”, -behind the sanctimonious cover of the
United Nations’ lofty ideals and prestige! Was this the reality
of the Security Council? Was this the manner in which it
implemented the principle of “peace amongst nations” and
the noble provisions of the United Nations Charter? Could
Kashmir believe its eyes? Just three days after a solemn
assurance is given to one Prime Minister, a contradictory
and diametrically opposite assurance is given to the other
Government secretly, stealthily, without qualms of consci-
ence or trace of shame! Two sovereign and self-respecting
Governments are cheated outrageously! An entire sub-
‘continent is scandalously duped!
, But how would the people of India now react? Could
they possibly take this calculated insult to their Prime Mi-
nister, this unbelievable outrage on their. national honour,
lying down? Would they not come out with a straightfor-
ward and full-throated denunciation of the Commission's
dishonourable role? Would they not boldly tear the mask of
“neutrality” and “impartiality” from the Commission’s face,
and proceed, at this stage at least, to rescue Kashmir from
the Commission and from Anglo- ~American hands?

Even the Manchester Guardian had found it 1mp0551b1°
to ignore this startling exposure of the Commission’s role.

“The Kashmir Commission,” it wrote, “during their
negotiations tried to do all things to all men.” (Reported
in Hindustan Times, Sept. 8, 1949.)

Dr. Chyle had noted the disastrous blow the Commis-
sion had dealt to its own prestige, and remarked in his
report:

“The Commission did not succeed'in winning public
confidence on either side and, on the contrary, left the
sub-continent charged...... with pusillanimity and
even with double dealing.”

But the reaction of the Indian Press was tragically
docile, lifeless and meek. A few papers, like the Indian
News Chronicle, made polite and indirect, almost half-
hearted, references to the Commission’s contradictory assur-
ances:

“The Commission after a full and detailed consi-
deration of India’s case, and a first-hand study..... "has
entered into commitments with India, and the Govern-
ment of India on the strength of those commitments
accepted the cease-fire... If the contention is that the
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Commission has given to Pakistan certain other assu-
rances on these points, India cannot, in fairness, be ex-
pected to atone for the Commission’s self-contradicticns
or errors.” (Indian News Chronicle, Sept. 8, 1949.)

Some, like the Tribune, spoke up a few months later,
but venting their anger and bitterness mainly on Pakistan,
not daring to nail down the Commission as the real villain-
of-the-piece, attempting almost to absolve it of the wide-
spread suspicion of guilt.

“The Commission in effect built up the screen of
cease-fire, behind which Pakistan raised and equipped
32 battalions of the Azad Kashmir Forces, and militarily
seized important strategic positions in the Northern
areas..... The UN Commission has ill-served the cause
of peace in the State of Jammu and Kashmir by pro-
claiming itself a helpless, we hope not a willing, witness
of the fraud which has been perpetrated under its very
nose.” (Tribune, Dec. 31, 1949.)

But the Hindustan Times, terrified lest even these faint
and indirect expressions of suspicion may annoy the Anglo-
American masters, scrupulously avoided any mention of
the' Commission’s scandalous duplicity, and rushed forward
with effusive and sickening protestations of eternal faith-
fulness and loyalty. Just a day after Zafarullah disclosed
the detailed assurances Dr. Lozano had given him, the
Hindustan Times wrote:

“There is a general recognition of the friendly
motives of President Truman and Mr. Attlee in addres-
sing personal appeals to Pt. Nehru to help bring the
Kashmir dispute to an early end ..... The fact that
President Truman is taking a keen personal interest in
the forthcoming visit to the USA of Pt. Nehru and is
planning to send his own plane to the United Kingdom
for India’s Prime Minister, shows the respect in which
Pt. Nehru is held in the USA.” (Sept. 8, 1949.)

A few days later, as the Commission packed up and
slunk away in confusion, Nehru packed up and flew off to
be toasted, feted and lionised as America’s “hope” in Asia,
during his triumphal tour in the “Discovery of America”.
Much to Kashmir’s speechless amazement, the Indian
Government had decided to take the outrage committed by
the Commission, meekly, lying down.

Kashmir, which had watched the new developments
shocked, indignant and with tense expectation, was plunged
again in silence and gloom,



VIII
A Valiant General to the Rescue

THE Anglo-American Powers did not fail to note the

Indian Government’s helpless and total dependence on
them. Nor did the Commission fail to take advantage of it.

After lying low patiently in Lake Success for three
months, allowing the latest repercussions and memories of its
performances in India to quietly die down, in Dec. 1949 the
Commission gathered its forces again for another assault.
Four members of the Commission, America and her three
loyal satellites, Belgium, Columbia and Argentina, submit-
ted a report to the Security Council on their findings and
recommendations.

Confident that neither India nor Pakistan would dare
to challenge the picture that they gave or the claims they
made, the four members of the Commission proceeded to
extol their own efforts at disinterested mediation, and laid
the blame for their failure squarely on the obstinacy and
intransigence of both the Governments.

The report mentioned the questions of the Azad Kash-
mir Forces, the withdrawal of armed forces, and the defence
and administration of the Northern areas as the three ques-
tions on which their mediation efforts had broken down.
The report quietly bypassed the rather inconvenient
question of the contradictory promises and assurances
given to both the Governments, and proceeded to make its
recommendations.

On the question of withdrawal of forces and demili-
tarisation it recommended that the problem be “treated as
a whole,” “eliminating all distinctions and comprising all
questions concerning the final disposal of all armed forces
in the State of Jammu and Kashmir.”

In simpler language, the report recommended that the
original Security Council resolution of April 21, 1948, which
had made some sort of a distinction between the aggressor
forces and the defending armies; which had, therefore, called
upon the Pakistan Government to withdraw the tribal raid-
ers and Pakistan nationals completely, and had provided far
the retention of a portion of the Indian army; which had also
not questioned the right of the Jammu and Kashmir Gov-
ernment, as a sovereign Government, tv raise and maintain
its own armed forces and militia; which, in spite of this
apparent concession to India, had been opposed violently
by the Kashmir National Conference, and which India too
had, ostensibly at least, refused to accept, was now to be
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overthown. It was to be replaced by a provisian “elimi-
nating” all such distinctions made. It was to be replaced by
measures seeking the final disposal of all armed forces in
Kashmir, including also the militia of the Kashmir Govern-
ment.

On the question of the Northern areas also the report
recommended a complete reversal of the position accepted
by the Security Council formerly. The 1948 resolution had
recognised the sovereignty of the Kashmir Government
over all its territories, and hence had called for the complete
withdrawal of Pakistan nationals and tribal raiders, The
1948 resolution had not recognised any such thing as the
“Azad Kashmir Government” or its armed forces, or admi-
nistration. Obviously, therefore, with the withdrawal of
tribal raiders and Pakistan regulars, the entire territory of
the Jammu and Kashmir State, and particularly the Nortn-
ern areas, were presumed to revert to the Kashmir Govern-
ment.

But the report now stated bluntly that this was just
not possible. Any entry of Indian forces into the area north
of the cease-fire line would inevitably lead to a renewal of
hostilities. Therefore, the highly strategic areas in the
North must remain under the administration of the Paki-
stan Government, “subject (of course!) to the supervision
of the United Nations.”

A few weeks later, while India was still attempting to
utter a few polite protests, the British delegate, Sir Alex-
ander Cadagon, drew pointed attention to this new proposal.

“In regard to the question of the Northern areas
my Government is impressed by the view given in para
273 of the Commission’s report that the entry of Indian
forces into the area north of the cease-fire line would
almost inevitably lead to a renewal of hostilities, It is
the duty of the Security Council to eliminate such a
possibility. It will be remembered that all members of
the Commission except one (Czechoslovakia) felt that
the Government of India ought, in these circumstances,
to be willing to waive this claim, which has in any event
to be considered afresh”!

Behind the polite request to “waive this claim” the
warning to India was clear: Abide by our decision; hand
over the strategic areas to us, or we will expose you as the
one who is provoking a “renewal of hostilities”; we will
brand you as the aggressor!

In its final recommendations the Commission showed
that it had learnt some valuable lessons from the experi-
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ence of the last few months. The presence of just one
member on the Commission from Czechoslovakia, a country
outside the ring of America’s satellites, had upset
many a neatly laid Anglo-American scheme, and had
gwen many a cause for heart-burning and regret. The
Czech delegate, Dr. Chyle, had boldly exposed the imperia-
list conspiracies aimed at widening the differences between
the two Governments, preventing direct mnegotiations bet-
ween them, and seeking an excuse to foist their top-ranking
military expert, Nimitz, on Kashmir as an arbitrator.
He had fought to maintain the independence and integrity
of the Commission against American attempts to turn it into
a convenient tool of US State Department policy,

But for Dr. Chyle’s embarrassing presence on the Com-
mission the gang of thieves could have proceeded merrily
and undisturbed on their business. The immediate need,
therefore, was to eliminate this disturbing element, and to
ensure that in future the “mediation” machinery would be
more reliable, more pliable and more amenable to Anglo-
American will. - S o

The report, therefore, recommended that the five-nation
Commission be wound up, and in its place a single media-
tor — a “sincere individual”, as the report piously called
him— be appointed, not by the Security Council, but by
the UN Secretary-General. And the terms of reference of
this sincere individual be so worked out as to" specifically
include the power to “settle eventually by arbitration” those
issues which may remain outstanding and which impede
the “creation of conditions for the holding of a plebiscite.”

The four members’ report thus sought to present a ready
solution for every hurdle the Commission had come across
in their attempts to overthrow Kashmir’s national govern-
ment and to seize Kashmir for Anglo-American domination.
On the two vital questions of the Azad Kashmir Forces and
the Northern areas the recommendations were a total
negation of the assurances given to India, assurances on the
basis of which the cease-fire had been brought about. In
their total effect, the recommendations were an open recog-
nition of the status of equality between India and Pakistan,
a position which, the Anglo-Americans well understood,
must be achieved if the Kashmir dispute was to be kept
alive, and partition—"“the only real solution”— was to
succeed. In brief, the recommendations, if anything, were
worse and more obnoxious and humiliating to Kashmir and
India than the original 1948 resolution of the Security Coun-
cil which India had refused to accept. . -
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The Czechoslovak delegate, however, refused to asso-
ciate himself with. these unjust and amazing recom-
mendations. In a separate minority report he refuted the
Commission’s .contention that its mediation efforts had

failed because of the intransigence of the Indian and
Pakistan Governments,

“The failure of the Commissior.’s mission is not”, he
declared, “solely ascribable to the intransigence of

the Governments of India and Pakistan...... The
‘reason must also be looked for in the activities of the
Commission.”

And one by one he exposed the entire activities of the
Commission, The false promises the Commission had given
to both the Governments, the duplicity because of which the
Commission failed to win confidence on either side; the
secret instructions the Commission received regarding the
thrusting of Admiral Nimitz, at the very earliest, as an arbi-
trator with wide and wunlimited powers; the sudden and
astonishing cancellation of the joint political meeting bet-
ween the two Governments, the one and only chance the
Governments were getting for a direct discussion of the
dispute; the general discouragement of all negotiations bet-
ween the parties, to prove to the outside world that a direct
settlement was impossible, that a continuation of the im-
passe was a dangerous threat to world peace. In fact, Dr.
Chyle tore the mask off the hypocritical pretensions of
the Commission and laid bare the actual activities by which,
posing as peace-makers, it had fanned the flames.

In his positive recommendations, Dr. Chyle drew
pointed attention to the actual facts of the:situation.

“The Commission deeply underrated the signifi-

. cance of the Azad Forces and failed altogether to take

- into. account the situation in the Northern areas, on

which two problems subsequently all the Commission’s
work kept on floundering.”

He pointed out that the Pakistan Government, by in-
ereasing the strength of the Azad Forces subsequent to its
acceptance of the cease-fire and by “conquering many strate-
gically important places during the interval”, had violated
the provisions of the cease-fire resolution. The resolution
itself “entirely omitted to concern itself with the situation
in the strategically very important territory of North
Kashmir.” : : —
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“The resolution of August 13, 1848, due to its many
serious shortcomings, cannot in its present form remain
the basic legal instrument of new mediation efforts. ...
From this failure, it has to be concluded that the re-
solutions of August 13, 1948 and of January 5, 1949....
are out of keeping with the actual present-day situation
in the State of Jammu and Kashmir, and that no com-
promise acceptable to both Governments can be reached
on their basis.” '

As regards further efforts at mediation, he stressed:

“If a peaceful solution of the dispute is to be attain-
ed, it has to be ensured that the Commission does nct
become an instrument of policies of certain Great
Powers.... the new mediation organ must be really
independent and untrammelled by outside interference.”

And this, Dr. Chyle insisted, could be guaranteed only
by a Commission consisting of the representatives of all the
members of the Security Council, including the Soviet
Unian, the only Big Power which from the very beginning
of the Kashmir dispute had exposed Britain’s hidden hand
behind the tribal invasion and recognised Sheikh Abdullah
as the leader of Kashmir's democratic people.

Two reports were now before the Security Council,
both proceeding on entirely different lines, The one based
its case on a clever evasion of the facts at issue; the other
sought to restore the basic facts to their proper perspective
and spoke up sharply against the one-sided proposals which
controverted these facts. The one was a sinister attempt to
widen the antagonism between the two disputant Govern-
ments; the other demanded that the new mediation efforts
should really bridge the gulf successfully and for this pur-
pose, the new Commission should maintain its integrity
and impartiality. The one was the culmination of the two-
year-old intrigues against Kashmir, and contained every
provision that they could think of to ensure the success of
their designs; the other recognised the sovereignty of
Kashmir’s national government, and sought to prevent—
at a time when India’s compromising leaders were them-
selves unable to prevent—Kashmir’s subversion to foreign
domination.

It would appear only natural that the Nehru Govern-
ment, claiming, as it did, that it had rushed to Kashmir’s aid
to prevent its being overrun by force of arms, would wel-
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come the Czechoslovak report whole-heartedly and, in its
own national interest, would cling firmly to its recommenda-
tions, That was the only way in which India could extricate
itself from the knots into which the imperialist Powers had
tied up the Kashmir dispute.

But not so the Indian Government. By this time, so
complete was the mess into which its servile pro-imperialist
foreign policy had landed it, so deep the morass of sur-
render into which it had sunk, that it could not bring itself
to accept the help its own nominee on the Commission was
offering it. It could not take a simple step to defend the
freedom of the Kashmiri people and the honour of the
Indian nation.

The Indian Press published the Chyle Report, and com-
mented on it, but briefly, almost hesitantly:

“The UNCIP resolutions (of August 13, 1948 and
January 5, 1949) cannot be of practical help in settling
the Kashmir issue, and it is good that Dr. Chyle’s report
has underlined this point.” (Hindustan Times, Decem-
ber 28, 1949.)

The Chyle Report is a good thing, but....but the con-
crete reality of dependence on the Anglo-Americans is hard
and stern. And any help offered by “the other side”, how-
ever timely and urgently needed it may be, must be waved
away sadly. And when the Anglo-Americans insist on foisi--
ing proposals based only on their own report, casting the
other report unceremoniously into the waste-paper basket,
India, bound hand and foot by her own servile foreign
policy, must submit with stoic resignation.

It is significant that not once in their various speeches
and statements did the Government of India’s representa-
tives dare to mention the Chyle Report. The conspiracy of
silence which killed his recommendations was the disastrous
climax to the successive surrenders which India was being
forced to make as a logical consequence of her pro-imperia-
list foreign policy. For India and Kashmir, it meant virtual
suicide.

On December 7, 1949, the Security Council, having con-
veniently forgotten the Chyle Report, brought up the four
members’ report for discussion. Once again the old farce of
“behind-the-scene” talks and “friendly” negotiations was
resumed, on lines with which we are already familiar. The
old pattern of the 1948 debates was witnessed again — the
initial refusals and determined rejections, the uncompromis-
ing speeches and the heated debates, the hectic “high-level”
activity in Delhi and the call to struggle and preparations

K5
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for armed resistance in Kashmir. Soon this was followed
by the old and well-known tactics — the threats, the pres-
sure, a few verbal modifications, a few bland assurances -—
and then India docilely surrendered!

General MacNoughton, the Chairman of the Security
Council for the month, undertook the delicate responsibility
of conducting the “friendly” negotiations and of quietly
hammering the parties into submission.

After the usual whirl of hurried meetings, as the expiry
of General MacNoughton’s term of chairmanship and mem-
bership of the Security Council drew near, he announced
the proposals that he had put before the Indian and Pakistan
delegates. The proposals were based almost entirely on the
recommendations of the Commission’s . majority report,
asking for the “elimination of all distinctions” in the ques-
tion of withdrawal of armed forces.

To achieve this “elimination of distinctions”, General
MacNoughton proposed: First, that there should be a “pro-
gressive reduction of armed forces on either side of the
cease-fire line. ... in such stages as not to cause fear to the
people on either side of the cease-fire line.”

Second, that the armed personnel ¢hould be reduced 1o
a “minimum compatible with the maintenance of security
and of local law and order.”

And third, that demilitarisation should include the
withdrawal of regular forces of Pakistan and the with-
drawal of such forces of India as are not required for pur-
poses of security or for maintenance of local law and order
on the Indian side of the cease-fire line; also reduction by
disarming and disbanding of local forces, including, on the
one side, the armed forces and militia of the State of
Jammu and Kashmir and, on the other side, the “Azad
Forces.”

In his commendable search for a firm equalitarianism,
for “eliminating” all invidious “distinctions” between the
parties, the worthy General had hit upon a noble principle.
Hold the scales fairly and evenly between the two. After
all, high and low, all are equal in the eyes of God!

That one of the parties was the victim and had brought
up a complaint against aggression and had demanded &
straight answer to its complaint; and that the other was the
aggressor, or the tool of the aggressor — this was only a
minor and irrelevant detail. The General was not the man
to lose himself in such petty hair-splitting and quibbling,
and was in no mood to be bothered about tiresome stories of
the past. The actual facts of the Kashmir invasion might
baffle many a lesser diplomat. And the knowledge that the
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entire world was acquainted with these facts might force
them to many a patient and prolonged manoeuvre and many
a secret intrigue, But the General was made of bolder stuff.
When he came across a Gordian knot, he knew from his
textbooks on the History of Military Campaigns how to cut
it, with the bold unsophistication of his eminent predeces-
sor, Alexander.

Truly, the General was just the man to show the way
out of the mess into which the Kashmir Commission had got.

“I have intentionally avoided”, he declared with
traditional military candour, *attempting to analyse or
pronounce unnecessary judgement on the rights and
wrongs of disputed issues of the past. Certainly it
seems to me the most hopeful course to follow, because
this method of approach does not require us to choose
between conflicting interpretations of past history.”
(Hindustan Times, Dec. 30, 1949.)

On the question of the Northern areas, the General was
equally free of doubt. They would be included in the gene-
ral programme of reduction of forces outlined above, but
their administration must be continued by the existing local
authorities, subject, of course, to UN supervision.

General MacNoughton outlined his proposals on the role
and functions of the new mediator also. The Czechoslovak
proposal for setting up a wide and powerful Commission,
including the Soviet Union, was taboo. Indeed, the much
dreaded Czechoslovak representative, with his embarrassing
disclosures, was himself to be removed from the Commis-
sion, and for this, the drastic step of winding up the whole
Commission was to be undertaken. In its place, one UN re-
presentative, “a sincere individual” who could be depended
upon not to give the whole show away, was to be appointed
by the Secretary-General. In his appointment the Security
Council, unlike 1948, was to have no say. The “interpreta-
tions” of this representative on the agreements reached
between the parties on the points of the MacNoughton pro-
posals were to be final and binding on both the Gov-
ernments. And as soon as he certified that the withdrawal
of forces had been accomplished “to his satisfaction” the
Plebiscite Administrator, Admiral Nimitz, would take over,
under powers assigned to him by the four members’ report.

In the above proposals, the General had only faithfully
echoed the recommendations of the Commission. It was,
however, in his final rider to the proposal on the functions
of the mediator that he took a decisive, though carefully
camouflaged and hermless looking, step towards the “‘ulti-
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mate plan”, partition “through a regional plebiscite or
otherwise” — the plan which the Anglo-American diplo-
mats had in their minds ever since January 1948, but which
they had been careful not to divulge until the conditions
for its willing acceptance were found to be fully ripe. The
UN Representative was not bound to adhere to the plan
for an overall plebiscite. He was authorised to “make any
suggestions to both the Governments which, in his opinion,
are likely to contribute to an expeditious and enduring
solution of the Kashmir question.”

Needless to say, the proposals met with the enthusiastic
support of the entire Anglo-American bloc. The Soviet
delegate, Jacob Malik, alone rose to utter a word of warning
against this attempt to thrust the Anglo-American deci-
sions down India’s and Pakistan’s throats. Any attempt by
the majority of the Security Council to impose their own
decision on India and Pakistan without taking the views of
the two parties as “of prime importance” would, he said,
only put the Security Council in an “embarrassing position.”
He insisted that “the views of both parties should be cons:-
dered of primary and not, as was then the position, of se-
condary importance.” (Hindustan Times, Dec. 31, 1949.)

He opposed the proposal that the appointment of the
new mediator be left to the Secretary-General, and that
Admiral Nimitz be allowed to function under powers
assigned to him in the Commission’s majority report,
insisting that both these responsibilities lay with the Secu-
rity Council.

IX
Enter, The Wolf In Sheep’s Clothing

B Y early January, 1950, it became known that General

MacNoughton’s behind-the-scene attempts to bludgeon
both parties to agree to his proposals were not going too
well, Pakistan had accepted the proposals with “minor
amendments” which, as Zafarullah hastened to explain, did
not alter the principles, but India, not daring to adopt the
attitude of outright rejection, had signified its polite dissent
through a series of “major amendments.”

But the reaction of Kashmir to the obnoxious provisions
of the MacNoughton proposals was sharp and unequivocal,
leaving no one in any doubt. Ever since June 1948, when
the Indian Government had intervened to call off 'ghe
National Conference programme of widespread preparation
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for struggle against the Security Council interventior,
Kashmir had watched the various imperialist intrigues to
seal its fate, and the various Indian Government surrenders
before the imperialist pressure, in growing helplessness and
dismay. Confused and disorganised since then by the com-
promising policies of the Indian Government, Kashmir now
decided to speak up again.

A whirlwind campaign of mass meetings and demon-
strations to protest against the MacNoughton proposals was
chalked out. Kisan workers’ schools were organised to take
the slogan of land reforms to the rural masses. The call was
given for a united front of all anti-imperialist elements by
no less a person than Bakshi Ghulam Mohammed, the De-
puty Prime Minister, himself. Fighting speeches, denouncing
the MacNoughton proposals, were made.

Speaking at Palanwala in Jammu, Bakshi Sahib warned
that if, coerced by threats and pressure by the Anglo-Ameri-
can Powers, the Security Council accepted the MacNoughton
formula without caring for the “rights and wrongs” of the
issues involved, the people of Jammu and Kashmir would
resist it with all their might.

“Our faith in the United Nations has been shaken.”
he declared. “The British ruling classes which were
responsible for the division of India and the estrange-
ment of relations between Hindus and Muslims, have
again come out in their true colours. So long as a single
Kashmiri is alive the MacNoughton formula will not be
accepted.” (Hindustan Times, Feb. 29, 1950.)

Mirza Afzal Beg, the Revenue Minister, gave an out-
spoken warning to India’s compromising leaders:

“India will lose the friendship of Kashmir if she
were to bow down before the pressure of the Anglo-
American bloc and accept, in any shape or form, the
MacNoughton formula which equated the aggressor and
the aggressed.... The pressure that is being brought
to bear on India clearly showed that Kashmir was being
treated as a pawn in the game of power politics.”
(Tribune, March 2, 1950.)

The Tribune, headlining another fighting speech by
Bakshi Sahib, “Kashmir’s Deputy Prime Minister Castigates
Anglo-American Bloc”, reported:

““The last nail in the coffin of the false prestige of
the Insecurity Council will be driven by the people of
Kashmir,” angrily declared Bakshi Ghulam Mohammed,
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addressing a mammoth meeting of Jammu citizens....
Bakshi Sahib was vividly enraged at the Anglo-Ameri-
can tactics. ‘The Anglo-American bloc wanted to thrust
its decision upon India by applying pressure and
threatening sanctions against her’, he said.” (Tribune,
March 4, 1950.)

Four days later, Bakshi Ghulam Mohammed, in bitter
indignation, exposed the precise form of the pressure and
the sanctions the imperialist Powers were threatening to
use against India.

“‘The Anglo-American Powers have threatened
India with stopping petrol and many other commodities
she is getting from them’, was disclosed by Bakshi
Ghulam Mohammed, addressing a meeting on March 7.
‘The Anglo-American bloc wanted to bind its decision

on India by threats and coercion’.” (Indian News Chro-
nicle, March 8, 1950.)

The resentment of Kashmir’s leaders against the latest
Security Council proposals was great and deep. But equally
great was the determination of the Anglo-Americans to push
forward their proposals, and to push them through soon.

By this time, the Soviet delegate had boycotted the
Security Council in protest against the refusal to admit a
representative of People’s China. This, the Anglo-American
majority realised, after their unhappy experience of the
exposures made by Czechoslovakia, was precisely the time
to hurry through with their plans, particularly before «
representative of People’s China came in.

“The Powers backing the four-Power proposal”,
reported a Reuter correspondent irom New York, “ap-
pear to be keen on getting the resolution passed before
more Communist members of the Security Council
come in.” (Tribune, March 14, 1950.)

Faced with such a situation, for the Anglo-Americans
the next step was clear. The former tactics of patient and
prolonged intrigue had already served their purpose. Now
that India and Kashmir were already in a hopeless quan-
dary, and, in the context of their basic policies, could see
no way out of it, the time was fully ripe to come forward
with a sharp and sudden blow. Already, the London Eco-
nomist had indicated the “get-tough” attitude of fire and
thunder, which the situation called for.

“The Security Council should either insist on the
difficulties which are holding up progress towards the
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plebiscite being referred to arbitration—whether India
likes it or not—or should go straight to the root of the
matter and insist on the armed forces of both sides
being removed and replaced by an international police
force.” (Quoted in Tribune, Feb. 28, 1950.)

The “get-tough” policy, the imperialists realised, must
this time be more terrifying, and the weapons used to break
Kashmir’s resistance and bring India to her senses must be
more effective than ever before. If a repetition of the threat
they had given during the 1948 session of the Security
Council, the threat to cut off India’s supply of petrol, did
not succeed in this, as it had succeeded previously, other
means would have to be found.

And other means were found. Just a day after Sir
Alexander Cadagon had threatened India that if it insisted
on bringing its troops into the strategic Northern areas,
fighting would inevitably flare up again, the British Press
set up the cry of an imminent danger of war between India
and Pakistan.

The Delhi correspondent of the New Statesman and
Nation set the tune, which other British papers were only
too ready to take up:

“Pakistan officials of the highest standing talk
openly of fighting for what the United Nations does not
grant them.” (Dec. 30, 1949.)

And a few days later, with a remarkable and astonisi:-
ing coincidence, communal riots did actually break out in
East and West Bengal. Soon enough, with the dangerous
situation created, suddenly and unexpectedly, for both the
Governments, both were accusing each other heatedly »f
“hostile acts and intentions”’, both were ordering their
armies to stand by, ready for any emergency, both were
talking openly of a “defensive war.”

The British Government was only too quick to express
its keen interest in and ‘“concern over” the critical situatioa
arising between India and Pakistan. The Indian Press re-
ported in early March that Mr. Attlee was likely to call both
Nehru and Liagat Ali to London to ‘“discuss” the situation
in East and West Bengal, and the British High Commission-
ers in both the Dominions were seen to have got unusuallv
busy.

At the same time, as the war danger was mounting on
the Indian sub-continent, another move to get India’s accept-
ance to the Security Council proposals was made. The
astute Anglo-American diplomats realised that the very
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name, “the MacNoughton formula”, had acquired too much
notoriety in public speeches and in the Press. Both the
Indian and Kashmir leaders had, in spite of General Mac-
Noughton’s timely warning in December 1949, made too
many public commitments in its opposition, commitments
from which, as the General had foreseen, they would find
it “difficult to resile.”

~ A show was, therefore, made of dropping the Mac-
Noughton formula, and in its place another resolution,
sponsored by America, Britain and their ostensibly “neutral”
satellites, Norway and Cuba, was brought up.

This four-Power resolution was nothing but an abridgel
version of the MacNoughton formula, the only addition in
it being a brief sentence providing that the demilitarisation
was to be “without prejudice to the rights and claims” of
both India and Pakistan. Against the background of General
MacNoughton’s earlier declaration that the “rights and
wrongs”’ of past issues were entirely irrelevant, this sen-
tence meant just nothing.

Zafarullah in accepting this four-Power resolution made
it plain repeatedly that it was based on the MacNoughton
proposals. And Sir Terence Shone, the British delegate,
according to a Hindustan Times editorial, in elucidating the
resolution on behalf of the four sponsors, “made it plain
that. ... the intention is to follow broadly the lines indicated
by General MacNoughton,” and that the Security Council
“recommended these suggestions (MacNoughton’s proposals)
in general terms to the parties, and to the UN Representa-
tive.” (Hindustan Times, March 17, 1950.)

But however obnoxious and dangerous the contents of
this new resolution, however closely patterned it obviously
was on the MacNoughton proposals, in the Anglo-American
calculations the big achievement was that the much-pub-
licised name of the “MacNoughton formula” had been

changed. After all, “what’s in a name?” — when the four-
Power resolution could just as well give them Kashmir for
the asking.

The much-boosted dropping of the MacNoughton for-
mula was a cheap and crude trick, so obvious in its crude-
ness that it could fool no one but those anxious and willing
to be fooled.

But by this time, India was willing to be fooled. The
accumulation of a three-fold pressure, the Anglo-American
threat to cut off her petrol, the use of the traditional weapon
of communal, riots in both the Bengals, and the whipping
up through known imperialist agents of mass frenzy for a
total war, was more than India could stand.
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The Indian delegate, B. N. Rau, naively asked for “cla-
rifications” on some points of the resolution. "And through
the four clarifications which the British delegate, Sir
Terence Shone, promptly furnished, India was tactfully
offered a badly needed ‘“face-saving” device, patchy and
unconvincing, yet useful enough for India to retreat while
keeping up a show of dignity and prestige.

The first clarification was on the vital question of the
withdrawal of forces, the crucial question on which Kashmir
had reacted so violently and bitterly, and around which the
entire plan of the Anglo-Americans to bring in Pakistan
troops, or to get an opportunity of bringing in their own
troops, was hinged. On this vital question, the clarifications
refused to budge one inch from the MacNoughton proposals.
On this crucial question, therefore, the Indian delegate,
B. N. Rau, knowing that given the basic policies of the Gov-
ernment, he could do no better, also decided to close his eyes.

The second clarification was with regard to the North-
ern areas. If the UN Representative found that the Anglo-
Americans had been wrong in assuming that the bringing
In of Indian troops into these areas would lead to a resump-
tion of hostilities, “the resolution would not preclude him
from suggesting other appropriate arrangements.” This
obvious mockery was seriously characterised in an editorial
iré the Hindustan Times as “an important gain.” (March 17,
1950.)

The third clarification was that the UN Representative
would have powers to interpret agreements reached in the
future, not in the past. This insulting piece of tomfoolery
the Hindustan Times editorial accepted solemnly as a “more
important gain.”

The fourth and last clarification was that the UN Re-
presentative would have the freedom to suggest any solu-
tion at variance with the “agreed objective”, i.e., an overall
plebiscite. This most sinister proposal, which could signify
nothing but partition, which was obviously the beginning
of the final imperialist plan, and which at this stage was
nothing new, having been suggested first in the Mac-
Noughton plan itself, was welcomed joyously by the Hin-
dustan Times editorial as “the most important gain.”

Reading this editorial, the Anglo-American strategists
would have every reason to be pleased with their success.
India, as they had fondly hoped two years ago, was herself
beginning to ask for the solution which their Press had sc
often publicised, but which they them:selves had not yet
dared openly to mention. India was herself walking int>
the trap they had laid with so much patience and care.
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And the Hindustan